

ReportServer

User Guide 4.7



ReportServer User Guide 4.7

InfoFabrik GmbH, 2024

http://www.infofabrik.de/ http://www.reportserver.net/



Copyright 2007 - 2024 InfoFabrik GmbH. All rights reserved.

This document is protected by copyright. It may not be distributed or reproduced in whole or in part for any purpose without written permission of InfoFabrik GmbH. The information included in this publication can be changed at any time without prior notice.

All rights reserved.

Contents

Co	onten	ts	i
1	Intro	oduction	1
2	First 2.1 2.2 2.3	The User Interface	3 3 4 5
3	Tean 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7	Working in a TeamSpace	7 8 9 9 9
4	Rep 4.1 4.2	Report Types	1 .1 .3
5	Das 5.1 5.2	Dadgets	.8 .9
6	Dyn 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6	Column Selection 2 Datatypes 2 Alias, Sorting and Hidden Columns 2 Filters 2 Format 2	21 22 22 23 25 25

	6.7 Filtering with Wildcards (*, ?)	. 26
	6.8 Aggregation	. 27
	6.9 Computations in filters	. 31
	6.10 Computed Columns	. 33
	6.11 Templates	. 34
	6.12 Excel Templates with JXLS	. 35
	6.13 Template example with JXLS	. 36
	6.14 Text Templates with Velocity	. 38
	6.15 Word Templates with XDocReport	. 38
	6.16 XML Templates with XSLT	. 39
_		
7	Pivot Mode of the Dynamic List	43
	7.1 Introduction	
	7.2 Working in Pivot Mode	45
8	The Analysis View	47
8	The Analysis View 8.1 Basics	
8	8.1 Basics	47
8	8.1 Basics	47 48
8	8.1 Basics	47 48 49
8	8.1Basics8.2Dimensions8.3The Toolbar8.4Filtering und sorting	47 48 49 50
8	8.1Basics8.2Dimensions8.3The Toolbar8.4Filtering und sorting8.5The chart mode	47 48 49 50 50
8	8.1Basics8.2Dimensions8.3The Toolbar8.4Filtering und sorting8.5The chart mode8.6Drill	47 48 49 50 50
8	8.1Basics8.2Dimensions8.3The Toolbar8.4Filtering und sorting8.5The chart mode	47 48 49 50 50
	8.1 Basics 8.2 Dimensions 8.3 The Toolbar 8.4 Filtering und sorting 8.5 The chart mode 8.6 Drill Scheduling	47 48 49 50 50 50
9	8.1 Basics 8.2 Dimensions 8.3 The Toolbar 8.4 Filtering und sorting 8.5 The chart mode 8.6 Drill Scheduling Report documentation	47 48 49 50 50 50 50 50

Chapter 1

Introduction

Business Intelligence

Business Intelligence (BI) describes the ability to jointly analyze all of a company's data, distilling relevant information to be used to foster better business decisions. The foundation of any BI solution is the careful preprocessing of existing data, for example, in a data warehouse.

ReportServer acts as the gateway between end-users and the collected data, allowing users to efficiently access and analyze the available data. From camera-ready evaluations to fine-grained ad-hoc reporting; ReportServer provides you with the tools to support your daily work.

In this manual we will discuss ReportServer from an end-users point-of-view. We will show how to display and export pre-built reports also as the the creation of complex analyses.

This manual is structured into the following chapters:

First Steps

This section gives a quick introduction to ReportServer. We will cover the basic workings of the user interface and explain how to execute reports and export them to various formats.

TeamSpace

The TeamSpace is your personal workspace in ReportServer. This chapter explains the intricacies of using and configuring the TeamSpace.

Reports

ReportServer unifies different kinds of reports in one system. This section introduces the various report formats, describes their specific characteristics and explains common concepts.

Dashboard

ReportServer's dashboard provides quick access your most important reports. In this chapter we describe how dashboards can be created an configured.

Ad Hoc Reporting: The Dynamic List

ReportServer provides an easy-to-use yet powerful tool to create ad-hoc reports: the dynamic list. In this chapter we present the dynamic list starting from the basics such as selecting and filtering of data and continuing to more advanced topics such as aggregation, advanced filtering, the use of computed fields or templating.

Pivot Mode of the Dynamic List

The Pivot mode of the dynamic list provides a different means to explore the data from your dynamic list reports by loading them into a cross table. In this section we describe how to prepare you report to use the Pivot Mode.

The Analysis View

The Pivot mode and OLAP reports share the same analysis component which is discussed in this chapter. We will show how to create cross tables and charts from your data.

Scheduling

ReportServer allows to create schedules for executing reports and exporting the result, for example, directly to your email account. In this chapter we introduce the scheduling feature and explain the various configuration options.

Please contact us in case you have questions or suggestions. We are looking forward to your request. You can reach us via email (info@infofabrik.de) or use our online forum which you can find at http://reportserver.net/forum.

Chapter 2

First steps

In this chapter we will give you an introduction to ReportServers most important features. We will show you how to log on to the system, describe the use of the Teamspace and explain the basic functionalities that allow you to customize your reports.

2.1 Login to ReportServer

In the following section we describe how to login to ReportServer. Please note, that the login procedure and dialog might be different from the one described here, depending on the setup in your organization. For more information you should contact your system administrator.

The basic login page asks you to provide your username and password. The **options** button (on the bottom left) allows you to select your language. Additional options might be available. Please contact your system administrator for more information on customer specific extensions.



Login

To login please provide your

- username
- password

and then press on Submit

Please note that, depending upon the configuration of ReportServer, repeated failed login attempts may lead to your account becoming blocked. In this case you can only login again after a waiting period, or if your account is unblocked manually by an administrator.

Forgotten Password

In case you have forgotten your password, click on the small arrow next to the submit button and select **password forgotten**. Provide your username to receive an email with instructions on how to set up a new password.

Note that your administrator may disable the "lost password" button. This is described in the Configuration Guide.

2.2 The User Interface



After an successful login to ReportServer the main module is automatically loaded. Report-Server consists of several modules. Which of them are accessible depends upon the configuration and your account's permissions. The currently displayed module is selected via the module bar on the upper edge of the display. On the right upper corner you'll find the global search function and with a click on your name you can open your account's profile where you can set several properties regarding your ac-

count. In the user profile you will also find the option to change your password. On the lower border of the screen is the so called status bar. Here you can find additional information on the system state provided by your administrators.

Working with Reports / The TeamSpace



Your main workspace within ReportServer is the TeamSpace. To access the TeamSpace module click on **TeamSpaces** in the module bar. The TeamSpace module provides custom workspaces for all teams in your organization. In ReportServer's terminology a team is a group of users of arbitrary size, that work on shared report objects. Users can easily be grouped into teams and can manage their own team via a simple role based permission scheme. Thus it is for example possible to invite a user as guest to

a TeamSpace, such that this user cannot make any changes.

The TeamSpace is structured similarly to a file explorer (e.g., your standard Windows-Explorer). It provides a folder structure which allows organizing the various report objects. The left panel you see a overview of all the folders in this TeamSpace.

By clicking on a folder this folder is opened in the center-panel (content area). By default the root folder is displayed here. You can change the appearance of the content area with the buttons next to **view** in the toolbar.

The details view (right panel) provides additional information to the currently selected object. Depending on the object several information tabs are displayed which allow navigating between the information.

You open an object by double click. A right click on an object opens a context menu which contains several commands for the selected object. You can move objects to a different folder by simply dragging them into the target folder.

More information on the TeamSpace module is given in the Chapter 3 on page 7.

2.3 Executing Reports

On a high level ReportServer distinguishes between two kinds of reports. On the one hand there are reports that were prepared and which are usually graphically designed. Such reports are commonly provided by administrators (resp., report designers). The creator of the report may include parameters that allow you to customize the visualized data. The possible parametrization is thus fully determined by the report designer. Such reports are especially suitable for print and are usually exported to PDF. Other export formats are however possible.



The dynamic list on the other hand is a report format that empowers you to fully customize the report to your needs. You can freely select the data included in the report and decide upon a possible post processing. All configuration is summarized in a documentation for that particular list such that these individual analyses remain transparent and fulfill possible audit requirements. Dynamic lists can be exported into a variety of formats such as Excel or PDF. Once an analysis is fully configured it can be stored as a variant which allows the report to be run at any point with up to date data.

To open a report double click on the corresponding report object in the content area of the TeamSpace. A new item **Executed Reports** appears in the module bar which allows access to all currently open reports. After the last report is closed the module again disappears. If more than one report is open, you can easily switch between the reports using the tabs on the bottom edge. To close a report click on the icon on the tab or right click a tab and select **close** from the context menu.

Depending on the type of a opened report different so called aspects are available. The toolbar contains general commands to export or save the current report. To switch between the several aspects of the open report chose the corresponding aspect on the left edge. To, for example, see a preview of the report, chose the aspect

	. V m Schedule & Pret		E deplay report documentation
8 parameters E computed columns	Parameter selection		
Y pretitar ∰, configure list ⊕ proviou	 Kuskéh de Kusén saf ém de Arodige eingeschelde weden s 	A An one of the second	
	✓ Bestelldoum von Kein Destrichben	V Berotototom No. 2019-01-05	

2. First steps

Preview. Via the export menu in the toolbar you can export the report to various formats and, for example, locally store the result as PDF on your computer.

	- V m Schod	da Ab Pryst			Eleplay report documentation	
f parameters					-	
computed columns	Parameter a	Selection: Kunde			×	
preditor						
Configure list	V Kunda Assest	n ×	🗸 add all	Renove all		
preview		Namo		Nore		
		AV Bloves, Co.		Auto Associés & Cio.		
		Alpha Cognet		Auto Canal+ Petit		
		Amica Models & Go.		Auto-Moto Classics Inc.		
		Annas Desorations, Ltd		Baane Mini Imports		
		Ateler graphique		Benarian Collectables Imports, Co.		
		Australian Collectables, Ud		Baser See Auto, Co.		
		Australian Collectors, Co.		Boards & Toys Co.		
		Australian Gift Network, Co				
		Auto Associós 8 Cie.				
	✓ Bestel	Auto Canal+ Petit				
	Keine Br					
		Baarie Mini Imports Bavarian Callectables Imports, Co.				
		Bavanan Callectables Imports, Co. Biauar See Auto, Co.				
		Baarde & Tova Co.				
		CAF imports				
		Cambridge Collectables Co.				
		Canadian CA Englands Makada				

If available the aspect Parameters allows you to configure the report via options provided by the report designer. The report designer can chose between several parameter types from simple text input fields to specific parameters for dates or lists.

Via their context menu (right click) you can reset a parameter to its default value. The list parameter is configured via double click on the displayed grid. This opens a popup which allows selecting a subset of values from a given list. In

the left half you see all available values. Via double click or drag and drop you can select from within those. The selected values are displayed in the right half. The button **add all** allows to quickly select select all available values. Note that by convention, no selection is equivalent to not taking the parameter into account. Via the buttons **remove** and **remove all** you can remove values from your selection.



The configured report can be stored as a new report object to your TeamSpace. We usually refer to such an object as a report variant. A variant contains all the metadata generated by the configuration. It does however not contain the actual data. The data is only loaded into the report during execution. The report documentation provides a quick overview on the report's configuration. It documents your work and your variants can thus be easily understood also by a third party, for example, during an audit.

Chapter 3

TeamSpace

Nearly all areas of work are nowadays organized in teams. The TeamSpace transfers this concept onto your reporting platform. The TeamSpace concept evolved from the experience that shared resources, such as shared directories (aka., network drives) come at the price of an immense maintenance effort. The challenge is that while everyone has to be able to access the data he or she needs different teams usually have a different perception of the data and thus need a different view or structure on possibly the same objects. This is exactly what TeamSpaces provide.

All report objects in ReportServer are organized in a single tree based structure only accessible by administrators. TeamSpaces allow to create a custom view upon a subset of these objects without interfering with the structure provided by the administrators. Furthermore different TeamSpaces provide different structures upon intersecting subsets of the available report objects without interfering with one another.

To support collaboration within teams, all members of a TeamSpace can edit the available objects. The clue: All changes by one member are directly available to everyone else on the team. To, for example, share objects with a user whom you do not want to allow to edit your objects TeamSpaces provide a simple role based permission scheme.

ReportServer	Di	shboard	TeamSpace Scheduler Adminis	ahation execu	ted report	•							Weicomo, root, a	et logost Q
Backoffice 🗸													볼 Ma	agei v A
8 8 8	c,	Add folder	B import reports	a	-									
D Repart Report D Repart Report D Repart Report		10 164491 164607 164524 164525	Products to source Products to source Products the source of the products Tage 8 (products) by remove	2016405	id 11:16 11:15 11:15		Gene utto: Base nego Base	ral outed C	== :olumr	Hidden: to	7x032394.0x88.4x094 7x602.9500.027-0 re (11_355_300.02.0 *	202-66077620434	Canada - Anal Andreas R	1991/gence 06.01.2014 29.01.2019 29.40.2019 29.40.2019 194524
							Details	History	Proview					

3.1 Roles

Users in a TeamSpace hold one of the four following roles:

Guests	Can access objects in the TeamSpace read-only. A guest
	cannot make any changes in the TeamSpace.
Users	Can edit any of the objects in the TeamSpace and create new
	variants but may not import objects. Users cannot edit the
	configuration (for example, manage members).
Managers	Managers have all permissions of a simple user but may also
	import objects and manage TeamSpace members.

3. TeamSpace

Administrator	Have the additional right to configure name and description
	of the TeamSpace. They may also delete a TeamSpace if in
	addition to the Administration role the user has the generic
	delete permission for TeamSpaces (see Administration Guide).

Note that the roles in the TeamSpace do not regulate which data can be accessed by a certain user. Access permissions are centrally managed by the system's administrators. A member of a TeamSpace might be able to see a report object but may not be allowed to open it.

3.2 Working in a TeamSpace

Every user can be a member in multiple TeamSpaces. You select the current TeamSpace via the dropdown menu on the the right of the TeamSpace bar.

The interface of the TeamSpace is modeled on a simple file explorer, such as the one you may know from Microsoft Windows. On the left you'll find an explorer that allows quickly switching between folders. The contents of the currently selected folder is displayed in the content area in the center. The toolbar options next to **view** allow changing the way the content area is displayed, for example, switching between a view containing more or less details. Besides, the toolbar contains the following commands:

	The menu contains options for the currently select object.
ø	The green double arrow refreshes the content area.
1	The single green arrow opens the parent folder.
	The folder provides quick access to all parent folders.
	Allows the generation of a new folder within the currently opened folder.
	Opens the import view which allows to import base reports into the TeamSpace.

The right panel provides details to the currently selected object. Use the tabs to switch between various information.

Via drag and drop you can move objects from one folder to another. For this you can either drop objects on a folder in the content area or in the explorer.

You open a context menu for any object via a right click. Amongst object specific commands, the context menu provides commands to rename or delete the current object.

3.3 Objects in a TeamSpace

The following symbols represent the various object types that you might encounter in a TeamSpace. The symbols representing reports can additionally be masked with a small chain, meaning that the report is only a reference. Further information on report references can be found in Section Importing Reports on page 9.



3.4 Configuration

Via the button **configuration** you can access the property panel for your TeamSpace.

Here you can set a name and a description for the TeamSpace as well as edit who can access it and in what role. If you have the administration rights for this TeamSpace you will also find the option to delete the current TeamSpace or add a new one.

3.5 Default TeamSpace

To configure which TeamSpace is loaded initially open your user profile. For this click on your name on the top right corner. There you can navigate to the TeamSpace options and there select your default TeamSpace.



3.6 Importing Reports

If you hold the role of manager or administrator you can import into your TeamSpace any report or variant that you have access to. Any report/variant object in a TeamSpace can be seen by any member of the TeamSpace, regardless of the role the user has. This, however, does not necessarily mean that the report can be executed by that user. This depends upon the user's specific permissions. The dialog **import reports** displays all report objects that you can access. This includes all of the objects in different TeamSpaces you can access as well as possibly objects from a global catalog.

3. TeamSpace

There are two ways to import an object into a TeamSpace:

Import as copy. In this mode the source object is duplicated and thus an independent object is created in the target TeamSpace. Changes on the source object do not influence this copy.



Import as reference. An object imported as reference will not be duplicated but only a reference to the source will be generated. Thus any changes to the source object are directly visible at the reference. You cannot change the reference directly. However, you can of course create new variants based on the reference and stored under a new name which then live as independent objects from reference and source. If the reference is deleted this does not affect the source object (which are assured that the

reference will still remain valid and accessible.

Imports from the global catalog are always as reference.

3.7 Global TeamSpace Administrator

Users can be given the *TeamSpace Administration permission* (see Administration Guide for further information on permissions). If a user has this permission he or she can access any TeamSpace with full permissions. The TeamSpace selection for administrators can be opened via the right most button in the TeamSpace toolbar.

Chapter 4

Reports

The following chapter covers the basics of working with reports. ReportServer supports various different types of reports which all serve a different purpose (for example, printing vs. ad hoc analysis). Depending on the type of report ReportServer offers different configuration options. All reports can be configured by so called predefined parameters if the report designer (i.e., the person who created the report) allowed for them. We discuss the configuration via parameters in Section 4.2. Configuration options specific to certain report types are discussed in later chapters.

In the following section we provide you with an overview of the various report types that you may encounter when working with report server.

4.1 Report Types

ReportServer supports a variety of different report formats that we classify into types according to their main use case. Depending on the type of report ReportServer offers different ways to interact and configure the report. In particular the dynamic list (ReportServers ad hoc reporting component) offers a huge set of configuration options which we cover in detail in later chapters. Here we want to briefly present the various types of reports that you may encounter. A detailed overview on the various types and specific report formats (for example, ReportServer supports three different reporting engines for generating graphical reports¹ which are usually meant for printing and thus offer pixel perfect reporting) can be found in the administrator's manual.

Graphical Reports

When speaking of graphical reports we mean reports that are highly formatted and usually meant to be read on paper. That is, here the goal is to allow for pixel perfect definitions optimized for printing. Graphical reports are usually designed by report designers using highly specified tools. Hence, the development cost and time for such reports is usually high. The same is true for the integration of change requests.



¹ReportServer supports the reporting engines JasperReports, Eclipse Birt and Crystal.

As explain, graphical reports are highly formatted and thus do usually not allow much interaction. Report designers do, however, have the possibility to integrate parameters that allow users some form of configuration. Graphical reports are usually an end product and not meant for further processing. They are normally exported to the PDF format.

The Dynamic List

The dynamic list is ReportServer's powerful ad hoc reporting engine and in contrast to the rather strict graphical reports it offers you as an end user a large number of powerful configuration options. With the dynamic list it is up to you to decide which data is in the report and how the data is post processed. Dynamic lists are usually exported to Excel but various other formats such as PDF, CSV, XML and even Word are possible.

AGG_PAYMENT - Basis:	.ast yea	rs payments (164345)								×
Escel-Expet v 🛓 Send	io 🗸	😭 Schedule 🚓 Pivot						🗎 clapiny s	port documentation	anve
ecomputed columns	Dap	ultr	Check Nr	Arrour	et .	Ousto	mer Nr	Customer		Emplyon
₹ prefilter	201	542.90	HR224331	12432.32	RUR		242	Alpha Cognac		
🖶 configure list	201	518/21	EU531600	30253.75	EUR		466	Kellys Gilt Shop		
preview	201	5/12/19	AL403079	75020.13	EUR		323	Down Under Souveniers, Inc.		
	201	5/12/16	BO#A23232	29070.38	EUR .		233	Quibec Home Shopping Network		
	201	54245	стананана	28500.78	RUR		175	Gift Depot Inc.		
	201	512/15	DL490918	48995.49	EUR		141	Euro+ Shopping Channel		
	201	5/12/14	JP1094644	615.45	EUR		356	Tokyo Collectables, LM		
	201	5/12/13	EQ12267	179235.09			250	Lyon Souveniers		
	201	511/29	HG435467	4 Sc		II ascending	452	Mini Auto Werke		
	201	511/29	BOAF62044		ter	 If descending 	209	Mini Caravy		
	201	5/11/28	04819725	29	mat	 none 	278	Annas Decorations, Ltd		
	201	\$0.02	B.MP84645	12190.85	EUR		406	Auto Canal+ Petit		
	201	\$21.04	F\$2290615	27905.54	EUR		440	Scandrawian Gift Ideas		
	201	511/12	ET64396	83598.04	RUR		124	Mini Gifts Distributors Ltd.		
	201	51101	E0208908	30293.77	EUR		462	FunGittleas.com		
	201	\$7523	ME497970	3516.04	EUR		148	Dragon Souveniers, Ud.		
	201	51621	19446250	65071.25	EUR .		141	Euro+ Shopping Channel		
	201	510/14	JE106477	120106.59	RUR		141	Euro+ Shopping Channel		
	201	510/11	LA656321	46781.98	EUR		321	Corporate Gilt Ideas Co.		
	201	37506	AE102287	23902.90	EUR		186	Toys of Finland, Co.		,
	201	519001	AE215400	101244.59	EUR .		124	Mini Girbs Distributors Ltd.		
	201	509.08	BN17870	3452.75	RUR		219	Boards & Toys Co.		
	201	5/08/27	NF869953	21432.31	EUR		355	Australian Gilt Network, Co		
	201	92820	N034994	49523.67	EUR		119	La Rochelle Oits		,
	201	5/08/13	DG339041	45770.52	tun		311	Oulu Toy Supplex, Inc.		

Excel Reporting

(174	621)									,
cel-l	w hope	± Send to ♥	ff Schedule						E deplay report documentation	B and
tt)										
		с	D	Е	F	G	н	1 3		
			-							
L	Atelier (103)	graphique					Re	p: Hernandez		
L								Office: Paris		
L	Order n	umber								
L										
L	Pes		Product Line	Product Code	Product Name	Qty	Price Each	Price		
L										
L										
h										
Г		helle Gifts					P.e	p: Hernandez		
L	(119)							Office: Paris		
h								Childer Fails		
L	Order n	umber:								
L	Pos		Product Line	Product Code	Product Name	Qty	Price Each	Price		
L	-			Code			Each			
L										
ŀ										
L										
_	<i>a</i> 1.	Gift Stores								
	Signal 4 (112)	Giff Stores					Re	p: Thompson		

OLAP – Analytical Reports



The dynamic list comes in two modes. The basic mode is meant for generating list type reports which can be extended using various templating engines. The pivot type, on the other hand offers easy to use powerful aggregation tools that allow you to quickly get a feel for your data, generate cross tabs or beautiful charts.

We will cover the various aspects of the dynamic list in detail in chapter 6.

With JXLS support ReportServer offers reporting with a templating engine based on Microsoft Excel. From the end user perspective JXLS reports are similar to graphical reports as they can only be configured via parameters.

OLAP (Online Analytical Processing) is often used as a synonym for the analyzing and reporting on multidimensional data. ReportServer supports the Mondrian report engine which allows to define multi dimensional data cubes which offer powerful analytical tools to experienced users.

We will discuss OLAP reports in greater detail in chapter 8.

Datamanagement Reporting Formats

The reporting formats presented so far are classical reporting formats that do not generate any data but present a view on a part of the data warehouse. Besides these classical formats ReportServer also offers data maintenance capabilities that we handle in ReportServer as any other report. That is, you could have a spreadsheet based maintenance tool that you can access directly from your TeamSpace.

It Customers (174665)			
Escel-Expert/w	v _ of bri	🖀 Schedule	display report docum
O Add C Depicate	60 Cat	© Rances	2 men
	Air: 🛙	Aa: D Aa: D	
CUS_CUSTOMERNUM	BER	CUS.CUSTOMERNAME CUS.CREDITUMIT	
	187	AV Stores, Co. 136600.00	
	385	Cruz & Soma Co. 81500.00	
	386	Lordine Souveniers 121400.00	
	382	Salaburg Collectables 71700.00	
	144	Volvo Model Replices, Co 63109.00	
	379	Collectables For Less Inc. 70700.00	
362		GitsiANges.com 41900.00	
		Court Real	
	415	Bave Cancel Save sports, 77000.00	
	471	Australian Collectables, Ltd 60000.00	
	455	Moreaule Inc. 30600.00	
	151	Muscle Machine Inc 100500.00	
	227	Heintze Colectables 120600.00	
	814	Petit Auto 79600.00 Auto Canala Petit 95000.00	
	406	Auto Cenali- Petr 95000.00 Toys of Pintand, Co. 95500.00	
	201	UK Delectables, Ltd. 92700.00	
	223	Deven Linder Souveniers, Inc. 80000.00	
	363	Reins Colectables 81100.00	
	334	Segminer Bouveriers 00000.00	
	255	Toyo+GrawnUps.com 90700.00	
		Saveley & Herriot, Co. 123600.00	
1 > pages:1			80

4.2 Configuration and Execution of Reports

After opening a report in the TeamSpace ReportServer takes you to the report execution module. This module is only active if at least one report is open and you can switch between modules using the module bar on the top of the screen. The report execution module allows you to configure the opened report (e.g., set parameters) and export the report into various formats. You can also schedule automatic execution of reports and have them send to you or your colleagues via email at repeating intervals (e.g., every monday morning).

The report execution module is structured into four parts. On the top you find a toolbar which provides access to the following functionalities

Export	Exports the report into one of multiple formats. The available formats depend on the type of report.
Send to	Allows to execute the report and send the result either via email to you or to colleagues or to store the result in within a TeamSpace.
Schedule	Via the schedule option you can automate the execution and have reports executed at repeating intervals or at some point in the future.
Report documentation	Opens the documentation for the current report. (Note that the documentation does not reflect configuration changes that were not yet saved.
Save	Allows to store a variant of the current report that reflects all the configuration changes made. If you are already working on a variant you have the option to save (overwrite the current variant) or save as (to create a new variant).

At the bottom of the screen you will find a tab for every opened report that allows you to quickly switch between open reports.

The main screen is usually split into two parts. On the left you find a sidebar that provides you with access to the various configuration aspects. In the center you find the main view of the selected aspect. Every report type at least offers the aspect **Preview**. Further aspects, such as **Parameters** allow you to configure the current report. In case only the preview is available the left sidebar will be hidden.

Parameters

Report designers can add configuration options to reports using so called parameters. If parameters are present then you'll find the aspect **parameters** in the left sidebar which takes you to the parameter configuration screen. The outline of the parameter page is defined by the report designer. Usually you will find that parameters consist of a title, a short description and a single form field. Parameters can have default values. If you changed a value and want to reset the parameter to its default value you can right click on the parameter's form field and choose **Set default values** from the context menu.

Report designers can choose from the following parameter types.

Text Parameter

The simplest parameter type is the *text parameter*. The text parameter consists of a single text input field that allows you to set the parameter value. Depending on the configuration chosen by the report designer the value must be respect a given format (e.g., an Integer). If the entered value does not fit the specified format an error message will be displayed next to the parameter.

Date Parameter



The date parameter allows you to select a date and/or a time. For the selection of dates, click on the icon next to the form field. This opens a small calendar which allows to comfortably select the desired date. Times are usually selected via a drop-down box.

Tipp. Instead of a fixed date you can also specify a date relative to the current day. For this you need to change the parameter to formula mode which is down via the context menu (right click on the form field). The form field changes to a simple text input field that contains a formula of the form \${today}. This now allows to input a ReportServer formula expression using the "today" object. The expression \${today} returns the current day, while the expression \${today.firstDay()} returns the first day of the current month. Further information on the ReportServer expressions and the *today*-object can be found in Appendix B.

Selection Lists

Selection lists allow the selection of one or multiple entries from a pre specified set. Report designers can choose from a variety of layout options that we summarize in the following:

Drop-down	The drop-down field allows you to select a single entry from a list of entries. If no value is selected explicitly then by convention the first entry in the list is selected.
Radio Buttons	Radio Buttons provide an alternative view to single selections, that is, a single entry can be selected.
Multi-Select	The standard multi-select field displays the currently selected values in a boxed list. To change the selection double click on the field. This opens the selection view in a popup window where the possible entries are displayed on the left and the currently selected values on the right. To change the selection simply use drag 'n' drop and move entries from left to right or vice versa. To adopt the current selection click on Apply . Note that the empty selection is by convention interpreted as All values are selected . Note that this is different from manually selecting every possible value as the latter would not take into account new options that are added at a later date.
Checkboxes	An alternative view for multi selections where a checkbox is displayed next to every possible entry.

Specialized Parameters

ReportServer allows report designers to add parameters programmed directly by the report designer for a specific task. This could be, for example, a map that allows you to select an area. In case you encounter a parameter that does not fit any of the above described then this is such a specialized parameter and you should talk to the responsible report designer to learn how the parameter is to be used.

Preview

The preview aspects displays a detailed preview of the report as it is currently configured. Note that to generate the preview the report actually needs to be run which depend ending on the type of report may take a few moments.

Execution / Export

Once the configuration is completed you can execute the report, that is, run the report with the currently available data and export the result into one of various formats. Which formats the report can be exported to depends on the type of report. Graphical reports, for example, are optimized for printing and thus are usually exported in the PDF format. Dynamic Lists on the other hand are usually exported to Excel but can also be exported into a variety of other formats.

Cacel-Expert	± Send to	w mischedule	& Ph	ot					🗈 dapis	ry report docume	ntation 🔒 azer
R CSV Terrolate	mo	I select columns	e Ren	ove column v / I edit for	nat 🔻 edit litter 🗌 distinct filte	= Substals	gill Gdit template				
HTML		Column		Delault Alias	Alas	Description	Options	Apprepate	Sort	visibleN	Туре
PDF		EMP_FIRSTNAME				Vamane				visible	WARCHAR
		EMP LASTNAME				Nachmarne	11		descending	visible	WARCHAR
		DVP_DVPLOYED	UMB			Matelerrane	er			visible	INTEGER
		EMP_JOBTITLE				Position				visible	VARCHAR
		EMP_OFFICECOD				Nederlassing				visible	WARCHAR
		EVP_EVAL				Email Adresse				visible	WARCHAR
		OFF_COUNTRY				Land	Ŧ			hidden	уалсная

In order to run and export a report choose the export option for the desired format from the toolbar. Some formats such as CSV require further configuration. When the export is completed ReportServer will ask you to download the result.

Creating Variants

Any change in configuration such as, for example, setting of parameters can be stored in form of a so-called report variant. That is, a report variant is simply the complete configuration of a report. Note that this does not include the underlying data to be stored but only the configuration. To get a snapshot of the report, you need to run and export it (see previous section).

To store the configuration as a report variant choose **save** from the toolbar. ReportServer will ask you to choose a name for the variant and you can also provide an optional description. The variant will then be placed into the TeamSpace next to the report. If you already worked on a variant you will have the option to either change the current variant (**save**) or store the changes under a new variant (**save as**).

The Report Documentation

Any specified configuration (such as parameters or report type specific configuration) is summarized in the report documentation which thus ensures that also individual report variants are comprehensible documented in an audit compliant fashion. We will discuss the report documentation in detail in Appendix A.

Scheduling

Variants, as well as reports that do not require any configuration, can be scheduled to be run at a specific time in the future or at recurring intervals (for example, every second tuesday of each month). To schedule a report choose the option **schedule** from the toolbar. ReportServer will then prompt you with further details, for example, whether the result should be send out via email (and if so to whom) or whether it should be stored in a TeamSpace. Further information on scheduling can be found in Chapter 9 on page 53.

Chapter 5

Dashboard

After successfully authenticating to ReportServer the dashboard module is loaded. The dashboard module holds one or more so-called dashboards, that allow to quickly access important data and reports. In contrast to a TeamSpace, the dashboard is a private module and every user can only access its own dashboards.

The dashboard module is structured similarly to other modules: it is structured into a main area (center), a toolbar (top) and a navigation bar (left) which allows to select the available dashboards. If you have not yet configured any dashboards, ReportServer will present you with an empty dashboard called **Default**. Via the **Tools** menu (on the right in the top toolbar) you can manage your dashboards. The following options are available

eportServe	Cr Dashboard TeamSpace Schedu	er Administration			Weitanie, root, e	ne politica
rtault	v				🖨 Acki Dedget	• Toola
reditimit per Custom	er .	20×	GustomerCreditLine			00
cus_citry	CUS_CUSTOMERNAME	CUS_CREDITLINET				
Chatawood	Souveniers And Things Co.	90300.00	Custome	ers		
rtus	Heintze Collectables	120600.00	Cuolonn	010	Customer per coun	77
ingapore	Handji Gifts& Co	97900.00				
febourne	Australian Collectors, Co.	117300.00	Customer Name		Credit Limit	. II
lobenhavn	Danish Wholesale Imports	83400.00	Customers	in Australia		
lergano	Rovelli Gitta	119600.00	Sean	Clenahan	660.300.00	- 1
wis .	La Corre Dabondance, Go.	84300.00	Ben	Calaghan	651.600,00	- 1
ite-ku	Osalixa Souverviers Co.	81200.00	Peter	Ferguson	€117.300.00	- 1
Adverse .	Australian Collectora, Co.	117300.00	Adrian	Hudey	693.300,00	- 1
kileke	Scandingvier Gift Ideas	115400.00	Anna	OHara	€107.800,00	- 1
INC .	Markening Inc.	70400.00	Customers	in Austria		11
00	Classic Legends Inc.	67500.00	Georg	Pipps	€71.700,00	
anto .	Dauble Darker Gilt Strees, LM	43300.00	Roland	Mendel	€45.300,00	- 1
			Customers	in Belgium		
Santes	Abelier graphique	21000.00	Catherine	Dewey	€79.900,00	-
deniown	Discast Classics Inc.	100600.00	Pascale	Cartrain	€23.500,00	- 1
yon	Saveley & Herrict, Co.	123900.00	Customers	in Canada		
soin	Toms Specialitäten, Ltd	120400.00	Jean	Frearière	648.700.00	- 1
Aschid	Euro+ Stepping Channel	227600.00	Elizabeth	Lincoln	689.600,00	- 1
larpelona	Enaco Distributora	80000.00	Yoshi	Tamuri	€90.300,00	- 1
San Francisco	Mini Wheels Co.	64600.00	Customers	in Denmark		11
vev Bectord	FunGittideas.com	85803.00	Pale	Ibsen	€120.800,00	-1
Siondale	Boants & Toys Co.	11000.00	Jytte	Petersen	€83.400,00	- 1
krtenk	West Coast Collectables Co.	55400.00	Customers	in Finland		11
South Brisbane	Australian Gift Network, Co	51600.00	Matti	Karttunen	696,500.00	-
laulouse	Alpha Cognac	61100.00	Kale	Suominen	€98.800,00	- 1
Paris	Lyon Souveniers	66100.00	Pirkko	Koskitalo	€90.500,00	- 1

Edit dashboard	Allows to set basic options for the currently selected dashboard. That is, you can set the dashboard's name and description and select a layout. The layout specifies how components (so-called dadgets) are presented on the dashboard. You can choose between a single column, various two-column and a three-column layout.
Edit order	Allows to change the order of dashboards.
Add dashboard	Creates a new dashboard.
Import dashboard	Administrators may provide preconfigured dashboards for you to use. Via Import dashboard you can import such preconfigured dashboards (if available). These will be copied and you can change them as you would any normal dashboard. You can, also at any later point reset them to their original state via:
Reset dashboard	Allows to reset dashboards that were imported.
Remove dashboard	Removes the currently selected dashboard.

5. Dashboard

5.1 Dadgets

To add new information to your dashboard, click on **new dadget** in the toolbar. The word dadget is short for dashboard gadget. Currently, the following dadgets are available.

Report Dadget	Allows to include reports into the dashboard.
Parameter Dadget	Allows to set parameters for any report dadget in the current dashboard.
URL Dadget	Allows to include arbitrary websites into the dashboard.
Bookmark Dadget	Allows to quickly jumpt to important report objects.
Library Dadget	Allows to to include dadgets preprepared by an administrator.
Static HTML Dadget	Allows to program a dadget using HTML and JavaScript.

A dadget always consists of a single panel that displays the information. Via the icons on the top right corner you can reload, configure or remove the dadget. The dadget's height can be set by dragging the lower border of the dadget to the desired position. To change the order of dadgets, simply drag and drop (via their title bar) them to the desired location.

We will now present the different dadgets and their configuration in more detail.

The Report Dadget

The report dadget allows to include arbitrary reports into the dashboard. You can choose whether the usual preview, an HTML-export, or if the entire default view of a report execution is to be displayed. Via the configuration (the gear icon in the title bar) you can choose the report and the format. In case the report has parameters, you can set these to custom values by clicking on the filter icon in the title bar. A second way to set parameters is via the parameter dadget that we discuss next.

The Parameter Dadget

The parameter dadget gathers all parameters from all report dadgets that are currently on the dashboard and presents them together. If two reports share a parameter, for example, two reports both allow to set the "year" then this parameter is only displayed once.

The URL Dadget

The Bookmark Dadget

The bookmark dadget allows to quickly access reports and objects. In your TeamSpace you can add a bookmark to any of the objects via the object's context menu (right click on the object). These objects will be displayed in the bookmark dadget. Double click on an entry to directly jump to the corresponding location.

The Library Dadget

Via a library dadget you can access preprepared dadgets. The configuration allows you to select a dadget from a catalog. Here you will only find those dadgets for which you have sufficient privileges.

The Static HTML Dadget

The HTML dadget allows to directly program a dadget using HTML and JavaScript. Further information can be found in the administration and developer manuals.

5.2 The Dashboard Layout

ReportServer dashboards provide a flexible layout to place dadgets. Each dashboard has at least three containers, a NORTH container, a CENTER container and a SOUTH container. Any dadget placed in the NORTH or SOUTH container will be displayed at full width. To place a dadget in either the north or south container, click on the dadget's title bar and drag the dadget to the top of the dashboard window (for the NORTH container) or to the bottom (for the SOUTH container). When dragging

ReportServer	Dashboard TeamSpace	Scheduler Administration			Welcome, root, root logost, Q
Deno Deshboard	2				😭 Acki Desiget 🛛 O. Tools 🗸
Top Employees - Dashboard	1				TSOX
Country 11	City 11	Lastrario	Amount / Y		
USA	San Francisco	Jennings	1,001,530.54 EUR		
USA	NVC	Veneut	999.377.05 EUR		
UBA	Boston	Patterson	505.875.42 EUR		
UK	London	Bott	732,096.79 EUR		
Japan	Takya	Nan	467,110.07 EUR		
France	Paris	Hernandez	1,250,577.81 EUR		
Australia	Sydney	Marsh	\$94,993.76 EUR		
E Poper Pope	ic Auswertungen 2 und Crystal rting LAP Auswertungen		Coxostanterrap	web 7 Cdaw (Mikadeda)addd (49) Haffer a sawr (Mikadeda)addd (49) Haffer a sawr (Mikadeda) Haffer	Callen of manners 3.20% (1.214c)

the dadget you should see hints where the dadget will be placed.

In the picture, we have one dadget in the NORTH container, and three digits in the center container which are spread over two columns.

The CENTER container can consist of up to three columns. To change the number of columns (or their widths) click on **edit dashboard** in the menu bar. To move a dadget from one column to the next, again simply use drag and drop.

A final layout option can also be set via the **edit dashboard** dialog. It is called "**scale dashboard to window size**" and is by default active. This means, that all dadgets are scaled such that they are visible at all times. If you open your dashboard with a different screen size, say on a mobile device, the dashboard is automatically scaled to fit the screen. When you disable this option, then all dadgets get an absolute height (in pixels). If the dadgets do not fit on the screen, a scrollbar appears that allows you to scroll up or down.

Chapter 6

Dynamic Lists

ReportServer's dynamic list is the method of choice, if you need fast, user specific reports/analyses, or if the focus is on subsequent processing of the selected data.

Dynamic lists can handle almost any reporting requirement ranging from simple filter criteria, sorting, grouping and sub-totals to more advanced functionality like analytical functions, first order logic or preprocessing methods.

Once specified, you can store your report as a so called variant and share it with your coworkers via a TeamSpace.

In this chapter we discuss the basic functionality of *dynamic lists*.

If you double click on a dynamic list you open the report view, which allows you to configure the opened list. Every dynamic list is based upon a source data table provided by an administrator. This table is usually huge and can easily comprise

ReportServer	Dashboard TeamSp	xaoa Scheduler Administration	executed reports					Webs	mo, reol, sost h	ngost Q
T_AGG_ENPLOYEE - Basis: E	imployees in USA (1645)	53)								×
Decel Expet ♥ ▲ Send to	. 💌 🛗 Schedule 👌	6 Pivot					🖹 dapis	y report docume	ristion 🔒	anve 🗸
computed columns	🖏 select columns 🛛 🛛	Remove column v I edit format	🔻 edit litter 🗆 distinct filter		🖽 Edit templete					
III. configure list	Column	Debuit Alias	Alas	Description	Options	Appregate	Sort	visibishi	Туре	
· preview	EMP_ERSTNAME			Vamane				visible	VARCHAR	
	EMP_LASTNAME			Nochname	н		descending	visible	WARCHAR	
	ENP_ENPLOYEEN.MB	L.		Matelonum	NT .			visible	INTEGER	
	EMP_JOSTITLE			Position				visible	уалснал	
	EMP_OFFICECODE			Nederlassung				visible	VARCHAR	
	ENP_EVAL	Copy		Ernal Adresse				visible	VARCHAR	
	OFF_COUNTRY	Poste odt fiter		Land	т			hidden	WARCHAR	
		Convert into prefilter Remove all filters from this edit format	i column							
		remove formats								
		Sort								
		move to top move to bottom								
		Remove column								
T_AGG_E×Employe×										

several hundred columns and millions of entries. To mine information from this huge amount of data, is essential to be able to select appropriate subsets. To this end, ReportServer offers a variety of powerful yet intuitively operable tools.

6.1 Column Selection

To first step in every dynamic list is to select a set of columns. You'll find the column selection in the toolbar of the aspect **list configuration**. The opening dialog is based upon the common selection (see Chapter First steps on page 3) dialog and displays the existing columns on the left and the selected columns on the right.

computed columns							🖬 dapis	ry report document	ntation 📑 a
prefilter	B select column	olumn selection	• 400 Bas	- 4000		nie – eff Calinavariana	×		
B configure list	Column						Bort	visibleN	Туре
C preview	EMP_FIRSTNA	0 M ×			🗸 add all	Penove Penove all		visible	WARCHAR
	EVP_LASTN4	Column	Delauit AL	De	Тура	Column	fescending	visible	VARCHAR
	ENP_ENPLOY	EVP_EWAL		En	WRCHAR	EMP_FPSTNAVE		visible	INTEGER
	EMP_JOBTITLE	EVP_EVPLOYEENLMSER		Mt	INTEGER	EMP_LASTNAME		visible	VARCHAR
	EMP_OFFICED	EVP_EXTENSION		Dur	WACHAR	EMP_EMPLOYEENUVEER		visible	WARCHAR
	EVP_EVAL	EMP_RIRSTNAME		Vor	WRCHAR	EMP.JOBTITUE		visible	WARCHAR
	OFF_COUNTR	EMP_JOBTITLE		Pp.,	WRCHAR	EMP_OFFICECODE		hidden	халснал
		EWP_LASTNAME		No	WICHAR	DP_DAL			
		EVP_OFFICECODE		No	WACHAR	OFF_OOLNTRY			
		EMP_REPORTSTO		¥07	INTEGER				
		OFF, ADDRESSUNE1		Ен	WRCHAR				
		OPP_ADDRESSLINE2		Zw	VANICHAR				
		OFF_CITY		Stud	WARDHAR				
		OFF_COUNTRY		Land	WRCHAR				
		OFF_OFFICECODE		No	WRCHAR				
		OPF_PHONE		Tet	WICHAR				
		OFF_POSTALCODE		Pp	WACHAR				
		OFF_STATE		9u	WRCHAR				
		OFF_TERRITORY		¥9	WRCHAR				
		V M M CURTOMERE			BAD NOT	Caroot	_		

6. Dynamic Lists

The selected columns are loaded into the aspect list configuration where they can be further fine-tuned. For every selected column you have one entry in the grid displaying the following information:

Column	The technical name of the column.
Default	name A clear text name for the column if configured by the administrators.
Name	Allows you to provide a custom name for the column.
Description	A description if configured by the administrators.
Options	Hints at various properties that you configured for the column such as
	filters or sort directions.
Aggregation	Configure an aggregation function for this column (see Section 6.8).
Sorting	Allows to enable sorting the report by data from this column.
Hidden	Allows to hide the column.
Туре	Contains the underlying data type.

6.2 Datatypes

Every column in a database has a fixed datatype that describes the form of data this column can hold. There are different datatypes, for example, for text, numbers or dates. Common datatypes are:

VARCHAR	Text with a maximal length.
INTEGER	Integer numbers.
DOUBLE/FLOAT	Floatingpoint Numbers.
DECIMAL	Decimal numbers.
CLOB/BLOB	Arbitrary long text / binary data.
DATE	Dates.

The order in which columns appear in your report is identical to the order of columns in the aspect *list configuration*. You can change the order by simply dragging and dropping columns to the desired positions or moving them via the context menu (right click).

To get a first impression of your current configuration change to the aspect **Preview**. The preview displays the first 50 records of your report. The toolbar at the bottom of the window contains information to the number selected entries and columns and allows you to pagethrough the entries of the list. You are further given the runtime of the report divided into the runtime on the server only and the time it took from the request until the data is displayed in your browser. A double click on an entry opens the corresponding record in a new window. Via the context menu (right click) you can access many of the functionality from the aspect **list configuration** directly from the preview page.

6.3 Alias, Sorting and Hidden Columns

To change a column's name go back to the **list configuration** and click on the cell in the name column corresponding to the desired column. If the administrator provided additional metadata for a column you'll find a default cleartext name as well as a description for each column. If you provide a custom name this name however takes precedence over the default.

The order of records in the final report can be changed by selecting an order for individual columns (under "order"). If an order is configured for more than one column, the order of the earlier column is obeyed first.

Under **Hidden** you can decide whether individual columns should not be part of the final report. This might be preferable in case the column should only be used for sorting or filtering of the data.

6.4 Filters

Filters allow to constrain the records contained in the final report. For this you can on each column create filters that explicitly include certain records or filters that exclude records. In this section we cover the basics of filtering with ReportServer. Advanced options such as wildcard filtering or filtering using a expression language are discussed in detail in later sections of this chapter. To specify a filter on a column, go to the aspect **list configuration**, select the column and chose the filter tool (from the toolbar) or simply double click the column.

Big and constrained Constrained and constrained Constrained and constrained Constrained	Escel-Expot v 🛓 Send t	o	ula 🔥 Ph	tot					🖹 clapi	ey report docume	reation	1 3876
	Computed columns Typrefilter	Column Column ENP_FIRSTNA ENP_DARTNA ENP_ENPLOY ENP_OFFICED ENP_ENAL	Course Course	of 5 >	CHAR)	Tesd	9 ferres al	Canal Ass	Boomsting	visbinN visbe visbe visbe visbe visbe visbe	Туре УАЯСН УАЯСН ИЛТЕОЕ УАЛСН УАЯСН	VR VR NR VR VR

You now have two basic approaches to describe the set of records that your report should contain:

- i) Selection of those records that should be in your final report (inclusion)
- ii) Selecting those records that should be ignored (exclusion). In this case all records except for the specified records will be contained in the final report.

In case you define both, inclusion and exclusion filters then the exclusion does not any more apply to the entirety of the records but only upon the subset defined by the inclusion filters.

This means, for example, that if you have included and excluded the same value, then the corresponding record is not part of the result set.

The filter dialog allows you to define inclusion as well as exclusion filters either on the basis of individual values or by defining value ranges. For this use the respective tabs.

The tabs are structured similarly and they resemble the common selection dialog. On the left you find the values of the current column filtered according to the entirety of records that are configured via different filters (filters on other columns as well as filters on the current column).

Selection works analogous to the selection dialog either by double click or drag-and-drop. To define a range of values, you need to provide two consecutive values thus defining the set (from A to B).

Alternatively to selecting the values from the list of available values you can switch the view to a text input field instead which allows you to simply type in the desired values or to use the clipboard

(i.e., copy and paste). In case you define ranges you need to separate the two values by a minus ("A - B"). Do note the spaces to the left and right of the minus. By not specifying one of the bounds you create open intervals. For example the interval "all values greater or equal to 5" would be written as "5 - ".

Tipp. To load all existing values of the current column without taking existing filters into account into the selection panel on the left click on the chain symbol (enforce consistency) next to the search field. (Usually you will not need to use this functionality.)

By default filters are case sensitive, that is values in the records have to exactly match the filter expression. In case you want to ignore upper and lower case, disable the option **observe case sensitive**. Note that this may negatively impact the performance of the resulting query.

Empty Cells (NULL)

A peculiarity of databases that you should be aware of when defining filters is their handling of empty cells. By *empty cell* we understand a cell that does not contain any value (in database speak this is called a NULL value). NULL is, in particular, different from the empty string "" or the number 0.

Since a NULL is different from any other value, you'll automatically exclude NULL values by defining any filter on that column. This might be counter intuitive in case there is only an exclusion filter defined, yet is the default handling in the relational algebra which provides the basis for any modern database system.

Consequently, if you defined a filter on a column but you do not want to remove empty cells you explicitly have to include them. Conversely, you only have to explicitly exclude empty cells if you do not have any other filters on a column. To configure the handling of empty cells use the respective drop-down box in the filter dialog.

Filtering Floating Point Numbers (Float/Double)

Note that by definition, testing floating point numbers for equality is problematic. Thus, in case you want to filter on a column of type float or double you should instead define a filter range. For example, instead to filter the value 5.1, use instead a range filter of 5.0009 - 5.1001.

Distinct: Remove Duplicates

Via the option **Remove Duplicates** in the aspect **list configuration** you can suppress the inclusion of duplicate records in the result set.

6.5 Format

In ReportServer you can define the output format for each column individually in the aspec **list configuration**. For this select a column and click on the button format in the toolbar or choose format from the context menu. This opens the format dialog which slightly differs depending on the underlying datatype.

scel-Expot 🗸 Send to	o ¥	ff Schedule	& Pivot								🖹 dapla	ry report documen	ntation 📄 a
computed columns prefilter		select columns	• Remov	e colume 🗸	I editformat	T edi fiter d	listinct filter	= Substals	🖽 Edit template				
prefiker configure list	Co	alumo		Detsuit Alias		Alas		Description	Options	Appropria	Sort	visbish	Туре
review	D.	P_FIRSTNAME						Vamane				visble	VARCHAR
	Đ.	P_LASTNAME						Nachname	11		descending	visible	WARCHAR
	Đ.	P_EVPLOYEEN	UMB					Matelonere	or			visible	INTEGER
	D.	P_JOSTITLE						Position				visible	залонал
	D.	P_OFFICECOD	:					Noderlassung				visible	VARCHAR
	EA.	IP_ENAL						Email Adresse				visible	VARCHAR
	OF	FE_COUNTRY						Land	т			Nidden	WARCHAR
	Y	SALES ANOUN	т					Being abgeschi				visible	DECIMAL
		L F	Format		ALES_AMOUN			nçêy celis as:	_	_	×		
			Format	nons: reperator:	NLES_AMOUN		Formal er	tçêy celis as:			2		

The following formats are available:

Number	The value is interpreted as a number and displayed with the configured				
	number of decimal places. Optionally you can enable a thousands separator.				
Percent	The value is interpreted as a percent.				
Scientific	Numbers are written in scientific notation.				
Currency	Values are interpreted as numbers and a currency symbol is appended.				
Date	The value is interpreted as a date and output in the specified target format				
	In case the underlying datatype is not a date type, you have to additionally				
	specify the source format. In this case also need to specify how to treat				
	erroneous dates. Via the options clean erroneous dates and replace				
	erroneous dates you can configure how this is done. If clean erroneous				
	dates is enabled, then a date which is in the correct format but not a valid				
	date (e.g., 35/03/2012) is turned into the most probable correct date (in				
	this case $04/04/2012$). For values that are not in the correct format (e.g.,				
	"last tuesday") the second option allows you to define a replacement. He				
	you can also provide an expression using the \${}-expression language with				
	the replacement value for the existing value. See Appendix Expression				
	language on page 59.				
Text	Interprets the value as text - In this way, for example, preceding zeros are				
	kept.				
Template	Allows to use an \${}-expression language expression. See Appendix Ex-				
	pression language on page 59.				

Note that in case the report is exported to Excel the formats are configured directly in Excel.

6.6 Report Documentation

Via the button **documentation** you can access the documentation for the current report. This gives you an overview of the entire configuration of your report. Note, however, that the documentation is always based upon the latest stored version of your variant. For more information on the report documentation, see Appendix A on page 57.

Employees i	n USA				09.10.2014
				Created Last changed: Creator: Id*:	25.01.201 30.09.201 null nu 4
General					
UUID: Base report: Remove duplicate rows: Subtotals :		74d2af83-e016-483a-5 T_AGG_EMPLOYEE - Ba no no			
Columns					
EMP_FIRSTNAME Vorname	Hidden: no	Order: -	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
EMP_LASTNAME Nachname	Hidden: no	Order: descending	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
EMP_EMPLOYEENUMBER Mitarbeiternummer	Hidden: no	Order: -	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
EMP_JOBTITLE Position	Hidden: no	Order: -	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
EMP_OFFICECODE Niederlassung	Hidden: no	Order: -	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
EMP_EMAIL Email Adresse	Hidden: no	Order: -	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
OFF_COUNTRY Land	Hidden: yes = "USA"	Order: -	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	

Figure 6.1: An example report documentation.

6.7 Filtering with Wildcards (*, ?)

Besides specifying ranges in the filter dialog you can also specify multiple values using wildcards. The wildcard * matches any arbitrary sequence of characters. This includes the empty sequence. For example: "fish*" matches the value "fishing" as well as the value "fish". In contrast, the wildcard ? matches exactly one arbitrary character.

Wildcards can be used in simple inclusion and exclusion filters as well as in range filters. Furthermore,

you can use wildcards also in the search mask of the filter dialog.

Note that when using wildcards in filter ranges then ReportServer tries to select the largest possible range. That is, in case the expression matches multiple values ReportServer selects the "lowest" value as the lower limit of the interval and the "biggest" as the upper limit. Further note, that if for one of the boundaries no value matches then the expression describes an empty interval. This may lead to unexpected results when defining an inclusion range: for example, "a* - z^{*} " is empty, if no value exists that starts with a "z".

ReportServer	Dashboard TeamSpace Scheduler Administration executed reports		Webs	na, real, nant	kogost Q
T_AGG_EMPLOYEE - Basis: E	implayees in USA (164553)				×
Encel-Expet ± Send to	🛩 🛗 Schedule 🖓 Pivot	🖺 dapi	ry report docume	rotation	anve 🗸
computed columns prefilter configure list freview	Column free Deep Called, in a Caller of C	iat escending	visible1vi visible visible	Type WARCH	
	Mar (BATCM) Mar (STATM) Mar (1 App	veible veible veible veible Nobion	INTEGE VURCES VURCES VURCES	н л л
T_AGG_E : Employe X					

6.8 Aggregation

Aggregation describes the process of summarizing or compacting of data that is equivalent according to some grouping property. For every group present in the underlying data the result set will contain one data record. Let us exemplify this by a list of persons with the features sex and age. A possible aggregation is the average age by gender. In this case the list with n data records will be aggregated to a result with one record per gender.

Thus, when using aggregation, we need to distinguish between attributes that describe to which group a record belongs (gender, in the example) and those that are to be summarized to a single value using an aggregation function.

ReportServer provides the following aggregation function

- Average: Computes the average value per group
- Count: Counts the number of records per group
- Maximum: Outputs the maximum value per group
- Minimum: Outputs the minimum value per group
- Sum: Computes the sum of all values per group
- Variance: Computes the statistical variance
- Count Distinct: Counts the records per group, however, only considers distinct values

If an aggregation function is selected for one of the columns, then all other columns that do not have an aggregation are considered as grouping columns. It is not possible that a report contains columns that are neither grouping columns nor aggregated columns. To define an aggregation for a column go to **list configuration** and chose an aggregation function from the list clicking in the appropriate cell in the grid.

Subtotals

If you enable aggregation then only a single entry per group will be present in the resulting report. In case you also wish to output the underlying entries in every group you can use the function "subtotals" from the toolbar of the list configuration. In the dialog you can specify the columns that are to be used for grouping. All columns that are not part of this list and that do not have an aggregation function will be considered for displaying individual group records.

Filtering and Aggregation

All filters in the aspect **list configuration** act on the visible end result. When filtering on an aggregated column this means that the aggregation comes first and the filter acts on the result of the aggregation. If we placed a filter on the aggregated age column in our example this would allow to filter the average age, not the values that go into the aggregation. Thus the filter "30 - " does not change the aggregated value of any of the two groups but suppresses any group in the result set that has a value less than 30.

If you are familiar with the database language SQL, then filters on aggregated columns correspond to HAVING filters in SQL.

To deviate from the described behavior and to filter the values going into the aggregation instead of filtering the result of the aggregation you can use so called pre-filters which are described in the next section.

Pre-Filter

	-		
Escel-Expert ¥ Send	io		E display report documentation
computed columns	B add block & sold filter v C And	Dr toggle v	
Configure list	Name	Description	
	▼ (pr)		
	Filter: OFF_COUNTRY	Lives in USA	
	🔻 🗠 (and)		
	Filter: CUS_CREDITLIMIT		
	Filter: OFF_COUNTRY I= CUS_	COUNTRY	

Pre-filters are a powerful tool to select the data going into your report. Their range of application goes far beyond that of the simple filters available in the aspect **list configuration**. The three main differences are:

Combining filters with ANDs and ORs Filters in the aspect list configuration are always working in conjunction (AND), that is, a record is in the result set if and only if all filter conditions are fulfilled. For pre-filters, on the other hand, you can create arbitrary combinations of

conjunctions and disjunctions (ANDs and ORs).

Comparing values between columns A column comparison allows to create filter conditions that are based on a relation between two attributes of a data record. An example could be all records where the value in column A is different from the value in column B.

Filtering values going into an aggregation As described above, filters in the aspect **list configuration** always act on the visible result which means, in case of an aggregation, that the filter acts on the result of the aggregation. In contrast, pre-filters are always evaluated before any aggregation thus allowing to filter values going into the aggregation. In our example this allows you to, for example, compute the average age of all persons older than 21. Note that if no aggregation is selected there is no difference in this respect.

Composition of pre-filter expressions

The pre-filter contains a set of filter expressions that are arbitrarily nested and combined with ANDs and ORs.

Let us consider an example with four filter expressions (note that the last filter is a column comparison):

```
A := Age > 30
B := sex = female
C := place of residence = New York
D := Age < 5
E := place of birth = place of residence</pre>
```

The expression

```
(B AND C AND (A OR D OR E))
```

describes the set of all females living in New York that are either above 30, less than 5 years old or that have also been born in New York.

ReportServer visualizes this expression as a so called tree:

AND	В		
	С		
	OR	А	
		D	
		E	

The AND and OR nodes are called blocks that enclose the nodes lying below. In the example, the first AND-block thus contains nodes B and C as well as the OR-block. The OR-block, in turn, contains blocks A, D, and E.

To evaluate the tree, that is, compute the truth value for a particular data record, ReportServer first evaluates the truth values for the individual filter expressions. Each evaluation yields the value TRUE or FALSE.

Example record:

```
Age = 25
Sex = female
place of residence = New York
place of birth = Boston
```

6. Dynamic Lists

this yields the following tree



In a next step ReportServer computes the values of blocks. For this, ReportServer recursively identifies blocks that do not contain any further blocks and computes the logical operation (AND or OR) on its values.

An AND-block is thus evaluated to TRUE if and only if all enclosed values are TRUE. An OR-block, on the other hand, is TRUE if at least one of its values is TRUE.

When a block has been evaluated it is replaced by the corresponding value. This process is repeated until the root block has been evaluated. In our example this is done in two steps:



Thus, the example record is not part of result set.

You can add filters and blocks to the pre-filter via the toolbar. These are always inserted beneath the currently selected block (or the root block if no block is selected). You can move nodes by simply dragging them to their new position. Note that the order of filters within a block is irrelevant to the result. Further a block beneath an AND-block is automatically converted into an OR block and vice versa, a block beneath an OR-block is converted into an OR block.

Via "And/Or toggle" you can exchange all AND blocks for OR blocks and vice versa.

Remark. Note that the complete pre-filter tree can be visualized in a DOT file with the "Export to DOT" button (renderable via any Graphviz tool including ReportServer REST dot-renderer) or in the Excel export with the output_filters or output_complete_configuration report properties. More information can be found in the Administration Guide.
6.9 Computations in filters

The $\{\$ -expression language can also be used in filter expressions. Instead of a value you can provide an expression using the text mode. In addition to the default replacements (see Appendix B) the following objects are available:

today	A calendar object that allows to write expression based on the current date. This
	can be used to, for example, filter all invoices not older than 7 days.
agg	Provides to access computations based on all values of the current column. This
	can, for example, be used for outlier detection
analytical	Provides access to analytical functions. For example you can filter the top 10 percent
	of a column

Using the today object

The "today"-object is a calendar object with which you can specify dates relative to the current date, that is, the object is initialized with the current date and time. With the help of the following functions you can manipulate the date (resp., time)

firstDay	Sets the calendar object to midnight at the first day of the current month
lastDay	Sets the object to the last second of the last day of the current month
addDays	Adds the number of days given as argument to the current date (the argument
	can be negative to subtract days)
addMonths	Adds the specified number of months to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
addYears	Adds the specified number of years to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
setDay	Sets the calendar to a specific day
setMonth	Sets the calendar to a specific month
setYear	Sets the calendar to a specific year
clearTime	Clears the time field, that is, the time is set to midnight
addHours	Adds the specified number of hours to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
addMinutes	Adds the specified number of minutes to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
addSeconds	Adds the specified number of seconds to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
setHours	Sets the hour field
setMinutes	Sets the minutes field
setSeconds	Sets the seconds field
format	This function formats the date according to a specified mask. This may be
	necessary if the underlying datatype is not a date type but a text type (see
	Appendix C on page 61 for further information).

Example You want to filter all invoices of the last month. This can be done using the following inclusion range:

\${today.firstDay().addMonths(-1)} - \${today.firstDay().addSeconds(-1)}

In case the column is of type VARCHAR (i.e., a text column) and the data, for example, formatted as day/month/year you have to specify the format using the format function:

\${today.firstDay().addMonths(-1).format("dd/MM/yyyy")} - \${today.firstDay().addSeconds
\$\[(-1).format("dd/MM/yyyy")} \]

Tip. More information on using the date format is available at http://docs.oracle.com/javase/6/docs/api/java/text/SimpleDateFormat.html.

Using the agg object

The "agg"-object provides access to aggregation functions working on the data of the entire column. This allows you to define filter expressions that are, for example, based on the average value of the column.

The following functions are available:

- avg: Computes the average value.
- count: Counts the number of values.
- countDistinct: Counts the number of distinct (i.e., different) values of the the current attribute.
- sum: Sums up the values of the column.
- variance: Computes the variance of the column.
- max: Computes the maximum.
- min: Computes the minimum.

Example. The formula $\{agg.avg()-10\} - \{agg.avg()+10\}$ defines an interval of width 20 around the average value of the column. This expression can, for example, be used as a range filter to find values that deviate too much from the average value.

Tip. There cannot be any spaces between a minus (subtraction) and the functions if the formula is used in a range filter as ReportServer would then recognize the minus as the range delimiter.

Tip. To compute the aggregate functions ReportServer needs to scan the entire table. In case the report is build on a large table this may take a while.

Using the analytical object

The analytical-object, similarly to the agg-object, provides access to functions that compute their result on all values of a given attribute. In contrast to the agg-object which always returns a single value, the analytical object computes a set of values. Thus the analytical-object can only be used in simple inclusion and exclusion filter expressions; not in range expressions.

The following functions are made available by the analytical object:

- top(n): Selects the top n values
- bottom(n): Selects the smallest n values
- topGrouped (n, 'column name'): Selects the top n values of this column grouped by column "column name"
- bottomGrouped (n, 'column name'): Selects the smallest n values of this column grouped by column "column name"

If n is an integer number then the n is interpreted as the number of values to return. If n is a decimal number between 0 and 1 then it will be interpreted as percent. Thus top(0.1) matches the top ten percent.

For the "grouped"-functions you must additionally supply the name of a column. The values will first be grouped according to this column and the top (resp., bottom) values will then be computed per group.

Example. The formula \${analytical.topGrouped(5,'CUS_COUNTRY')} defined on an attribute containing sales values will filter the top 5 sales per country (if CUS_COUNTRY is the name of an attribute containing the country of a customer). Thus, the resulting report contains all customers that are within the top 5 of their country.

Tip. Similarly to the agg-functions ReportServer needs to scan the entire table when computing any of the analytical functions. In case the report is build on a large table this may take a while.

6.10 Computed Columns

With computed columns you can enhance your report by creating new attributes that are not already present in the base data, but that can be somehow computed. The computation rule is defined directly in SQL which allows for very fast processing directly on the database. This, on the other hand, means that depending on the

Escel-Export v 1 Send to	. v	M Schedule	S. Phys		B dt	splay report documentation
annulos testuarios						
T prefilter				Remove		
🗓 contigure list	Name			scription	Expression	
80 preview	Baver	roa	Th	product's revnue	(Y_NUM_SOLD * Y_AVG_PRICE) - (Y_NUM	
					tere: Teresco: 200100: 200100: 200100: 4 4 4 4 (1000/000 + 1,000/000 + 100,0000 4 4 (1000/000 + 1,000/000 + 100,0000 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	

database used (please ask your administrators

for more information) available expressions and

functionality can slightly differ. In this section we cover only a very basic subset of the possibilities. For further information please refer to any good introduction to SQL.

If you add a computed column (aspect computed columns, add attribute) you can henceforth use it as any other column in your report. This means that you also need to add the computed column to the list of selected columns (aspect list configuration) if it should be included in the result.

Tip. When defining computed columns you can base your computation only on attributes available in the reports base data, that is, computed columns cannot depend on one another.

To configure computed columns go to the aspect computed columns. Here you can add new attributes and change existing ones. Note that the name of a computed column needs to be alphanumeric without spaces and unique.

SQL provides a huge number of possibilities to define a computed column and describing only a small subset of these would go beyond the scope of this manual. However, we want to give at least a small number of code examples for often occurring use cases.

We base the following examples on a table with four columns:

- A, B: Columns containing text
- C, D: Columns containing integers

For simply calculations you can use the basic arithmetic operations, such as, C + D to define the sum of two attributes. To concatenate two text attributes you can (with most databases) use the ||-operator. In some cases also the +-operator or the function call CONCAT(A,B) can be used.

With CASE-expressions you can define conditionals. For example, this allows you to classify values according to their value.

```
CASE

WHEN COLUMN\_NAME < 500 THEN 1

WHEN COLUMN\_NAME < 1000 THEN 2

WHEN COLUMN\_NAME < 2000 THEN 3

WHEN COLUMN\_NAME < 3000 THEN 4

ELSE 0

END
```

Please note that the first matching expression wins and that all possible return values need to be of the same data type.

6.11 Templates



Besides the standard export formats like EXCEL or CSV, dynamic lists allow to export the result

data directly into a preprepared template. In this section we will cover the basic templating functionality.

In the aspect list configuration you can access the functionality via the button **edit template**. The opened dialog displays the currently available templates on the left and details to the currently selected template on the right. Via the toolbar you can add new templates, down-

load the currently selected template or remove templates.

A template consists of a name, a description and a type. Currently, the following template types are available:

JXLS	Allows the definition of templates using Microsoft Excel.
XDoc	Allows the definition of templates using Microsoft Word.
Velocity	Allows the definition of plain text-templates.
XSLT	Allows the definition of XML-templates.

If you added a new template you need to upload the corresponding file. In the following paragraphs we provide a small example for each template type. A complete documentation is out of the scope of this manual. More information can be found on the net:

JXLS	http://jxls.sourceforge.net
XDocReport	https://github.com/opensagres/xdocreport
Velocity	http://velocity.apache.org/
XSLT	http://www.w3.org/TR/xslt

6.12 Excel Templates with JXLS

ReportServer integrates the JXLS template engine which allows you to prepare sophisticated templates directly in Microsoft Excel and filling them directly from your reporting platform. Via specialized directives you manage how and where data is to be inserted. A detailed description of the possibilities offered by JXLS is beyond the scope of this document, thus we will only quickly go over the basics. Both JXLS2 and the legacy JXLS1 are currently supported in ReportServer. These are described in the following.

Excel Templates with JXLS2

A complete JXLS2 documentation is given on the jXLS-project page at http://jxls.sourceforge. net. Here, we will show an overview of the most important components for working with Report-Server.

You can find JXLS examples in ReportServer here: https://github.com/infofabrik/reportserver-samples/tree/main/src/net/datenwerke/rs/samples/templates/jxls.

Remark. Note that you can export dynamic lists into JXLS templates from ReportServer 3.4.0. This functionality may help you with manual JXLS template creation, since manual creation may be cumbersome in some cases. Many thanks to Karolina Boboli for sending us this script and allowing us to use it.

In JXLS2 (http://jxls.sourceforge.net/index.html), you define the JXLS2 commands via Excel comments. The JXLS2 engine parses these comments and transforms the template accordingly. Here, we will show a basic example of a template and briefly explain its components. For more details, please refer to the Administration Guide (JXLS Reports) and to the JXLS2 documentation.

Øø	Calibri 🔽 🔽 B I U = = = = 🗐 🦺 % 💱	‱ ೫ ∉ ∉ 🗆 • ≙ • 🛓 • 👢
B1	✓ Jx x ✓ S(customer.cus_phone)	
	AB	с
1	{customer.cus customername} /\${customer.cus phone}	
2		
3	ix:area(lastCell="B1")	
4	jx:each(items="data" var="customer" lastCell="B1")	
5	· · ·	
6		
7		

Consider the following example The cell A1 contains an Excel comment with the following text: jx:area(lastCell="B1"). It defines the boundaries of our template to be the range A1:B1.

It also contains a Jxls Each-Command with the following text: jx:each(items="data"var="customer"lastCell="B1"). The Each-Command will iterate the collection of objects in the "data"-collection and print the corresponding information. The body area of the Each-Command is A1:B1 (defined by the lastCell attribute), which means the cells will be cloned and processed with each new Customer object in the context.

Note that the "data" variable contains the data selected by the dynamic list. This variable is set automatically by ReportServer and can be used directly in JXLS templates when used as a template for the dynamic list.

```
jx:area(lastCell="B1")
jx:each(items="data" var="customer" lastCell="B1")
${customer.cus_customername} | ${customer.cus_phone}
```

Note that you have to enter the fields in lower case so that these are correctly mapped by the JXLS engine.

6.13 Template example with JXLS

Now we have learned how the general functionality of templates in ReportServer is being used.

As an example how templates actually work, we will use this small template example to illustrate how templates can be used in practical sense via JXLS.

Creation of a dynamic List

R§ Select columns ● Remove column ↓ I Edit format. ▼ Edit filter □ Distinct filter ■ Subtotale BB Edit template									
Column	Default Allas	Allas	Description	Options	Aggregate	Sort	Visible/Hi	Default W	
EMP_EMNL			Email address				Visible		
EMP_EMPLOYEENUMB			Employee number				Visible		
EMP_FIRSTNAME			First name				Visible		
EMP_JOBTITLE			Job title	Visible					
EMP_LASTNAME			Last name	Visible					
EMP_OFFICECODE			Branch office	Visible					
OFF_CITY			City	Visible					
OFF_COUNTRY			Country				Visible		
Y_SALES_AMOUNT			Amount of comple				Visible		

First create a dynamic list and select the columns you need. In this example we use "T_AGG_EMPLOYEE" example report and select the "EMP_EMAIL", "EMP_EMPLOYEENUMBER", "EMP_FIRSTNAME", "EMP_JOBTITLE", "EMP_LASTNAME", "EMP_OFFICECODE", "OFF_CITY', "OFF_COUNTRY" and "Y_SALES_AMOUNT" columns.

There the preview of data shows us the values of all the columns selected from each record.

Schedule & Pivot				ø	Refresh preview 🖉 Display report o	locumentation Sav
EMP_EMAIL	EMP_EMPLOYEENUMBER	EMP_FIRSTNAME	EMP_JOBTITLE	EMP_LASTNAME	EMP_OFFICECODE	OFF_CITY
abow@classionodelcars.com	1143	Arthony	Sales Manager (NA)	Bow	1	San Francisco
afisten@classiomodelcars.com	1611	Andy	Sales Rep	Føder	6	Sydney
bjones@classicmodelcars.com	1504	Barry	Sales Rep	Jones	7	Lordon
dmurphy@classicmoddicars.com	1002	Diane	President	Murphy	1	San Francisco
fiseng@classicmodelcars.com	1286	Foon Yee	Sales Rep	Tseng	3	NYC
gbondur@classiomodelcars.com	1102	Gerard	Sale Manager (EMEA)	Bondur	4	Paris
phemande@classicmodelcars	1370	Gerard	Sales Rep	Hemandez	4	Paris
gvanauf@classicmodelcars.com	1323	George	Sales Rep	Variaut	3	NYC
firrelli@classicmodelcars.com	1076	Jeff	VP Marketing	Firrelli	4	San Francisco
firrelli@classicmodelcars.com	1188	Alle	Sales Rep	Firtelli	2	Boston
bondur@classicmodelcars.com	1337	Loui	Sales Rep	Bondur	4	Paris
boti@classicmodelcars.com	1501	Lany	Sales Rep	Bott	7	Lordon
jennings@classicmodelcars.com	1165	Lesle	Sales Rep	Jennings	4	San Francisco
hompson@classicmodelcars	1165	Lesle	Sales Rep	Thompson	4	San Francisco
ngerærd@classicmodelcars.com	1702	Martin	Sales Rep	Gerard	4	Paris
nnishi@classicmodelcars.com	1621	Marni	Sales Rep	Nahi	5	Takyo
vpatterso@classicmodelcars.c	1056	Mary	VP Sales	Patterson	4	San Francisco
castilo@classicmodelcars.com	1401	Parnela	Sales Rep	Castilo	4	Paris
)

Now the need arises to prepare the template which can be done via excel as seen here: http://jxls. sourceforge.net/reference/each_command.html. An example template can be found here: https://github.com/infofabrik/reportserver-samples/tree/main/src/net/datenwerke/ rs/samples/templates/jxls/jxlsdynamiclist.

This is how the template looks like in an example excel file.

Next, the template needs to be uploaded and added into ReportServer. For this the following steps are needed:

- 1. Go to $\ensuremath{\textbf{Configure list}}$
- 2. Press on the button Edit template
- 3. Click on the button **Add template**
- 4. Choose **JXLS** Format in the pulldown menu **Template Type**
- 5. Upload the previously created excel document

Now the dynamic list offers a new export format that is called **Template**. Due to the example template we created before the output would be the following.

		B C	U	E	F G			J	К	L N jx:area(lastCell="l	
	Report temp	plate for Varia	nt T_AGG	EMPLOYEE - Ba	sis: Top Emplo	yee per O	ffice			1	
	Country Ci	ity Office	Co Firstn	ame Lastname Er	mployee Jobtitle	Email	Amount				
ş	(row.OFF_COUTS)	row.OF\$(row	.EN \${row	.EN \${row.EN \${	row.EN \${row.I	EN \${row.	EN \${row.Y_	SALES_AMO	UNT}		
(E	Based on "T_AGG_	EMPLOYEE - B	asis: Top	Employee per O	ffice" DEMO Va	riant)					_
0	Version: 1.0.1)										
1	🖾 Edit templ	ate								×	
P								_			
L	I Add templat								Downlo	ad template	-
Ŀ			Add ten	nplate				×			
L	ID Temp	late Nam									
L			Name:	1							
		I	Test Te	mpiatej							
			Descript	ion:				_ I			
L											
		[e Type: emplate: 6_EMPLOYE	E.xlsx		Brows	∨ e			
		[MIME/Ty								
	Benort		File Exte	ension:			ancel Su		-0		
		template fo	File Exte	ension: nt T_AGG_EM		asis: Top	Employe	e per Offi			
	Country	template fo City	File Extension Or Variat	nsion: nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstname	Lastname E	asis: Top mployee	Employe Jobtitle	e per Offi Email	Amoun		
	Country USA	template fo City San Fran	File Extension Or Variat	nt T_AGG_EN Co Firstname Anthony	Lastname E Bow	asis: Top mployee 1143	Employe Jobtitle Sales Mar	e per Offi Email abow@cl	Amoun assicme	odelcars.com	
	Country	template fo City San Fran Sydney	File Extension or Varia Office	nt T_AGG_EN Co Firstname Anthony Andy	Lastname E	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611	Employe Jobtitle Sales Mar Sales Rep	e per Offi Email abow@cl afixter@c	Amoun assicmo 5625	odelcars.com 83	
	Country USA Australia UK	template fo City San Fran	File Exte or Varia Office c1 6 7	nt T_AGG_EN Co Firstname Anthony Andy Barry	Lastname E Bow Fixter Jones	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504	Employe Jobtitle Sales Mar Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c	Amoun assicmo 5625 7048	odelcars.com 83 54	
	Country USA Australia	template fo City San Fran Sydney London	File Exte or Varia Office c1 6 7	nt T_AGG_EN Co Firstname Anthony Andy	Lastname E Bow Fixter Jones Murphy	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002	Demploye Jobtitle Sales Mar Sales Rep Sales Rep President	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classio	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co	om
	Country USA Australia UK USA	template fo City San Fran Sydney London San Fran	File Extension Office of 7 c1	nt T_AGG_EN Co Firstname Anthony Andy Barry Diane	Lastname E Bow Fixter Jones Murphy	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286	Demploye Jobtitle Sales Mar Sales Rep Sales Rep President Sales Rep	e per Offie Email abow@cl afixter@d bjones@d dmurphyd ftseng@c	Amoun assicmo 5625 7048 @classio 4882	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co	
	Country USA Australia UK USA USA	template fo City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NYC	File Extension Office C1 6 7 C1 3	nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstname Anthony Andy Barry Diane Foon Yue	Lastname E Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102	Demploye Jobtitle Sales Man Sales Rep Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sale Man	e per Offie Email abow@cl afixter@d bjones@d dmurphyd ftseng@c	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classic 4882	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 modelcars.co	
	Country USA Australia UK USA USA France	template fo City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NYC Paris	File Extended of the file of t	ension: tt T_AGG_EN Co Firstname Anthony Andy Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard	Lastname E Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370	Demploye Jobtitle Sales Man Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales Rep Sale Man Sales Rep	e per Offie Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c dmurphyt ftseng@c gbondur@	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classic 4882 @classic 12585	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 cmodelcars.co 78	
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Country USA Australia UK USA USA France France	template fo City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NYC Paris Paris	File Extension Office C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1	ension: ttAGG_EN Co Firstname Anthony Andy Barry Diane Foo Nue Gerard Gerard	Lastname Er Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur Hernande	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323	Demploye Jobtitle Sales Man Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sale Man Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c dmurphyd ftseng@c gbondur@ gbondur@ gbernand gvanauf@	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classic 4882 @classic 12585 6693	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 cmodelcars.co 78	m
) L 2	Country USA Australia UK USA USA France France USA	template fo City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NYC Paris Paris NYC	File Extension Office C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1	nsion: ht T_AGG_EN Co Firstnam Anthony Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard Gerard George	Lastname Er Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur Hernande Vanauf	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076	b Employe Jobtitle Sales Man Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sale Man Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep VP Marke	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c dmurphyd ftseng@c gbondur@ gbondur@ gbernand gvanauf@	Amoun assicmo 5625 7048 @classic 4882 classic 12585 6693	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 cmodelcars.co 78 77 nodelcars.com	m
2 2 3	Country USA Australia UK USA USA France France USA USA	template for City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NYC Paris Paris NYC San Fran	or Varia Office c1 6 7 c1 3 4 4 3 c1 2 4	nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstnam Anthony Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard Gearge Jeff	Lastname Er Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur Hernande Vanauf Firrelli	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188	b Employe Jobtitle Sales Mai Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sale Man Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep VP Marke Sales Rep	e per Offie Email abow@cl afixter@d bjones@d dmurphyd ftseng@c gbondur@ gbondur@ gvanauf@ jfirrelli@c	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classic 4882 @classic 12585 6693 :lassicm 3866	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 modelcars.co 78 77 nodelcars.com 63	m
D 1 2 3 4	Country USA Australia UK USA USA USA France France USA USA USA	template fr City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NYC Paris Paris NYC San Fran Boston	File Externor Office C1 6 7 C1 3 4 4 3 C1 2	nsion: T_AGG_EN Co Firstname Anthony Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard Gerard George Jeff Julie	Lastname Ei Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur Hernande Vanauf Firrelli Firrelli	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188 1337	b Employe Jobtitle Sales Mai Sales Rep Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c dmurphyi ftseng@c gbondur@ gbernand gvanauf@ jfirrelli@c jfirrelli@c	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classic 4882 @classic 12585 6693 dassicm 38660 5694	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 modelcars.co 78 77 nodelcars.com 63 86	m
D 1 2 3 4 5	Country USA Australia UK USA USA VSA USA USA USA VSA VSA France	template fo City San Fran Sydney London San Fran Naris NYC San Fran Boston Boston Paris	File Extended of the file of t	nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstname Anthony Andy Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard Geard George Jeff Julie Loui	Lastname Ei Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur Hernande Vanauf Firrelli Firrelli Bondur	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188 1337 1501	o Employe Jobtitle Sales Rep Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c dmurphyi ftseng@c gbondur@ gbondur@ ghernand gvanauf@ jfirrelli@c jfirrelli@c lbondur@	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classic 4882 0classic 12585 6693 classicm 38660 56944 7320	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 modelcars.co 78 77 oodelcars.com 63 86 97	m
D 1 2 3 4 5 5	Country USA Australia UK USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA	template fr City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NYC Paris Paris NYC San Fran Boston Paris London	r Varia Office 5 7 c1 3 4 4 3 4 4 3 2 4 7 c1	nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstnamc Anthony Andy Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard George George Jeff Julie Loui Larry	Lastname Ei Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur Hernande Vanauf Firrelli Bondur Bondur Bott	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188 1337 1501 1165	o Employe Jobtitle Sales Mar Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c dmurphy ftseng@c gbondur@ gbondur@ gkernand gvanauf@ jfirrelli@c jfirrelli@c lbondur@ lbott@cla	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classic 4882 classic 12585 6693 lassicm 38660 56944 7320 10815	odelcars.com 83 54 13 modelcars.co 78 77 odelcars.com 63 86 97 31	m
D 1 2 3 4 5 5 7	Country USA Australia UK USA USA USA USA USA USA USA UK USA	template fc City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NYC Paris Paris NYC San Fran Boston Paris London San Fran	File Extended of the file of t	nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstnam Anthony Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard Gerard George Jeff Julie Loui Larry Leslie	Lastname Ei Bow Fixter J Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur Hernande Vanauf Firrelli Bondur Bott Jennings	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188 1337 1501 1165 1166	o Employe Jobtitle Sales Man Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offin Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c dmurphyn ftseng@c gbondur@ gbondur@ gbondur@ jfirrelli@c jfirrelli@c lbondur@ lbondur@ lbondur@	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classic 4882 classic 12585 6693 lassicm 38660 56944 73209 10815 3475	odelcars.com 83 54 55 13 modelcars.co 78 77 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	m
0 0 1 2 3 4 5 5 7 8	Country USA Australia UK USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA	template fr City San Fran Sydney London San Fran Paris Paris NYC San Fran Boston Paris London San Fran San Fran	r Varia Office 1 3 4 4 3 4 4 3 1 2 4 7 7 1 1	nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstnam Anthony Andy Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard Gerard George Jeff Julie Loui Larry Leslie	Lastname E Bow Fixter J Jones Murphy Tseng Sondur Hernande Vanauf Firrelli Bondur Bott J Jennings Thompso	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188 1337 1501 1165 1166 1702	b Employe Jobtitle Sales Man Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c dmurphy ftseng@c gbondur@ gbenand gvanauf@ jfirrelli@c lbondur@cl lbondur@cl lbondur@cl lbontu@cl lbontu@cl lbontu@cl lbontu@cl	Amoun assicned 56254 7048 @classic 12585 6693 (lassicned 38660 56944 73209 10815 3475 3874	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 cmodelcars.co 78 63 63 86 97 97 31 33 33 77	m
D 1 2 3 4 5 5 7 3 9	Country USA Australia UK USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA	template fr City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NVC San Fran Paris London San Fran Paris	r Varia Office 21 5 7 7 2 4 4 7 2 4 7 7 2 4 7 7 2 4 7 7 2 4 7 7 2 4 5	nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstname Anthony Andy Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard Geard Geard George Julie Loui Larry Leslie Leslie Martin	Lastname E Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur Hernande Vanauf Firrelli Bondur Bott Jennings Jennings Gerard	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1286 1102 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188 1337 1501 1165 1166 1702 1621	b Employe Jobtitle Sales Man Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@d bjones@d dmurphyi ftseng@c gbondur@ gbondur@ gbondur@ jfirrelli@c ifirrelli@c ifirrelli@c ifirrelli@c lbondur@ lbott@cla ljennings@ merard@ mnishi@c	Amoun assicne 5625 7048 @classic 12585 6693 (lassicne 3866) 56944 73200 10815 3475 3874 4571	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 cmodelcars.co 78 63 63 86 97 97 31 33 33 77	m
2 3 4 5 7 3 9 0	Country USA Australia UK USA USA France USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA	template fo City San Fran Sydney London San Fran Paris NYC Paris San Fran Boston Paris London San Fran San Fran	r Varia Office 21 5 7 7 2 4 4 7 2 4 7 7 2 4 7 7 2 4 7 7 2 4 7 7 2 4 5	nt T_AGG_EN Co Firstname Andtyony Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard George Jeff Julie Loui Larry Leslie Leslie Leslie Martin Mami	Lastname E Bow Fixter Jones Murphy Tseng Bondur Hernande Vanauf Firrelli Bondur Bott Jennings Thompso Gerard Nishi	asis: Top mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188 1337 1501 1165 1166 1702 1621 1056	2 Employee Jobtitle Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@d bjones@d dmurphyi ftseng@c gbondur@ gbondur@ gbondur@ jfirrelli@c ifirrelli@c ifirrelli@c ifirrelli@c lbondur@ lbott@cla ljennings@ merard@ mnishi@c	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048 @classic 4882 classic 12585 6693 lassicm 38660 56944 73209 10815 3475 3874 4571 50@class	odelcars.com 83 54 cmodelcars.co 13 modelcars.com 63 86 97 31 33 33 37 77 10 sicmodelcars.com	m
2 3 4 5 5 7 3 9 0 1	Country USA Australia UK USA France France USA USA USA USA USA USA USA	template fr City San Fran Sydney London San Fran NYC Paris Paris Paris NYC San Fran Boston Paris Candon San Fran Tokyo San Fran	r Varia Office 1 5 7 1 5 7 1 5 7 1 5 7 1 5 7 1 5 7 1 5 7 1 5 7 1 5 7 1 5 7 1 5 7 7 1 5 7 7 1 5 7 7 1 5 7 7 1 5 7 5 7	nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstnam Anthony Andy Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard Gerard George Jeff Julie Loui Loui Loui Leslie Martin Mary Mary	Lastname E Bow Fixter J Jones J Murphy T Tseng Bondur Hernande Vanauf Firrelli Bondur Firrelli Bondur Bondur Jennings Ott J Gerard Nishi Pattersor	asis: Toy mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188 1337 1501 1165 1166 11702 1621 1076 1401	o Employe Jobtitle Sales Rep Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offie Email abow@cl afixter@d bjones@c dmurphyf ffseng@cc gbondur@ gbenand@ gvanauf@ jfirrelli@c jfirrelli@c lbondur@cl lbondur@cl lbondur@cl lbondur@cl bott@cla ljennings(lthompso mgerard@ mnishi@c	Amoun assicm 56253 7048 @classic 4882: classic 12585 6693 38666 56944 73209 10815 3475: 3874: 4571: 0@class 8682:	odelcars.com 83 54 54 modelcars.co 77 77 78 66 63 86 63 87 77 77 77 77 77 77 70 77 77 77 70 77 77	m
2 3 4 5 5 7 8 9 1 2 2 3	Country USA Australia VIK USA VISA VISA USA USA VISA VISA VISA VISA France Japan USA France VISA France	template for City San Fran Sydney London San Fran Paris Paris Paris NYC San Fran Paris London San Fran Paris Tokyo San Fran Paris	or Varia Office C1 5 7 C1 3 4 4 3 5 C1 2 4 5 C1 4 5 5 C1 4 5 5 C1 4 5 5 C1 4 5 5 C1 4 5 5 7 C1 5 7 5 7 C1 5 7 5 7 5 7 5 7 5 7 5 7 5 7 5 5 7 5 7	nt T_AGG_EN Co Firstnam Anthony Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard George Jeff Julie Loui Larry Leslie Leslie Martin Mani Many Pamela	Lastname E Bow F Fixter J Jones Murphy Tseng B Bondur Hernande Vanauf F Firrelli B Bondur B Bontu B Bott J Jennings Gerard Nishi Natersor Castillo	asis: Toyi 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1188 1337 1501 1165 1702 1621 1056 1401 1612	2 Employee Jobtitle Sales Rep Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales Rep Sales Rep VP Marke Sales Rep Sales Rep	e per Offic Email abow@cl afixter@d bjones@d dmurphyte ffseng@cc gbondur@ gvanauf@ gvanauf@ jfirrelli@c lbondur@l bl	Amoun assicmo 56254 70482 @classic 48822 classic 12585 6693 38666 38666 38666 38666 38666 38745 38747 4571 38747 4571 38747 45712 38747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55747 55757 57757 577577 577577 5775777 577577	odelcars.com 83 54 55 13 modelcars.co 13 77 77 63 86 69 97 31 33 33 33 77 77 10 sicmodelcars.co 86 69 97 21 21	m
2 3 4 5 5 7 3 9 0 1 2 3	Country USA Australia UK USA USA France USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA France USA USA USA USA Conce USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA USA	template fo City San Fran Sydney London San Fran Paris NYC San Fran Boston Paris London San Fran San Fran Paris Tokyo San Fran Paris Sydney	or Varia Office C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1 C1	nt T_AGG_EM Co Firstname Anthony Andy Barry Diane Foon Yue Gerard George Jeff Julie Loui Larry Leslie Leslie Leslie Martin Mari Mary Pamela Peter	Lastname E Bow F Fixter J Jones - Murphy - Tseng - Bondur - Hernande Vanauf - Firrelli - Firrelli - Firrelli - Bondur - Bondur - Bondur - Bondur - Bondur - Gerard - Nishi - Pattersor Castillo - Castillo -	asis: Toq mployee 1143 1611 1504 1002 1286 1102 1370 1323 1076 1323 1076 1333 1076 1188 1337 1501 1165 1166 1702 1621 1401 1612 1216	D Employe Jobtitle Sales Rep Sales Rep President Sales Rep Sales Rep Sale	e per Offi Email abow@cl afixter@c bjones@c dmurphyi ftseng@c gbondur@ gbondur@ gbondur@ gbondur@ ghernand gvanauf@ jfirrelli@c libondur@cla libondu	Amoun assicmo 56254 7048: @classic 4882: classic 12585; 6693; alassicm 38666 38666 73209; 7520; 7500; 7520;	odelcars.com 83 54 55 13 modelcars.co 13 77 77 63 86 69 97 31 33 33 33 77 77 10 sicmodelcars.co 86 69 97 21 21	m

6.14 Text Templates with Velocity

Velocity https://velocity.apache.org/ is a templating language for plain text documents. This, however, allows you to generate any sort of output format based on ASCII-text. To access data from the report you again use the replacement object "data".

You can find Velocity examples in ReportServer here: https://github.com/infofabrik/reportserver-sample tree/main/src/net/datenwerke/rs/samples/templates/velocity.

The following example outputs a list of customers, assuming the report contains a column "CUS CUSTOMER NAME".

```
Customer List:

#foreach ( $customer in $data )

$customer.CUS_CUSTOMERNAME

#end
```

You can also download this template from our reportserver-samples GitHub: https://github.com/ infofabrik/reportserver-samples/tree/main/src/net/datenwerke/rs/samples/templates/ velocity

Accessing Parameters

You can use/display your report parameter values by using the "parameters" object available. E.g., if your report has a parameter "myparameter", you can access it with

\$parameters.myparameter

Further, you can access all special parameters explained here: https://reportserver.net/en/guides/admin/chapters/using-parameters/ by using the "meta" object available. The following example displayes the report's name:

\$meta._RS_REPORT_NAME.value

Note that, other that the report parameters explained above, you need "value" for fetching the special parameters' values.

6.15 Word Templates with XDocReport

XDocReport https://github.com/opensagres/xdocreport brings the velocity templating language to Microsoft Word.

You can find XDocReport examples in ReportServer here: https://github.com/infofabrik/ reportserver-samples/tree/main/src/net/datenwerke/rs/samples/templates/xdoc.

In order to use templating constructions such as

#foreach (\$customer in \$data)

you need to wrap them into so called **MergeFields**. For this, choose "Insert/Quick Parts/Field..." and then choose the category *MergeField*. You'll specify the command in the the input field below the field functions. The above velocity example would thus look like

```
All customers:
MERGEFIELD[#foreach($customer in $data)]
MERGEFIELD[$customer.CUS_CUSTOMERNAME]
MERGEFIELD[#end]
```

where MERGEFIELD[XX] denotes a MergeField for command XX.

In the following screenshot you can see the resulting template in Word. You can also download this template and example results from our reportserver-samples GitHub: https://github.com/infofabrik/ reportserver-samples/tree/main/src/net/ datenwerke/rs/samples/templates/xdoc



Accessing Parameters

You can use/display your report parameter values by using the "parameters" object available. E.g., if your report has a parameter "myparameter", you can access it with

```
MERGEFIELD[$parameters.myparameter]
```

Further, you can access all special parameters explained here: https://reportserver.net/en/guides/admin/chapters/using-parameters/ by using the "meta" object available. The following example displayes the report's name:

```
MERGEFIELD [$meta._RS_REPORT_NAME.value]
```

Note that, other that the report parameters explained above, you need "value" for fetching the special parameters' values.

6.16 XML Templates with XSLT

For creating XML based on dynamic lists you can use XSLT (Extensible Stylesheet Language Transformations).

The input data in the XSL-transformation is ReportServer's HTML export. The following code fragment shows a sample transformation which outputs the data in a simple XML format which contains an overview of all attributes of the table and a single "record"-element per data record in the result.

You can find this example here: https://github.com/infofabrik/reportserver-samples/ blob/main/src/net/datenwerke/rs/samples/templates/xslt/.

```
<?xml version="1.0"?>
<xsl:stylesheet version="1.0"
xmlns:xsl="http://www.w3.org/1999/XSL/Transform"
xmlns:xhtml="http://www.w3.org/1999/xhtml">
```

```
<rpre><xsl:template match="/">
    <myXmlFormat>
    <xsl:apply-templates select="//xhtml:tr"/>
  </myXmlFormat>
</xsl:template>
<!-- attributes -->
<rsl:template match="xhtml:thead/xhtml:tr">
  <attributes>
  <rsl:apply-templates mode="attributes" />
  </attributes>
</xsl:template>
<xsl:template match="xhtml:th" mode="attributes">
  <attribute>
    <rpre><xsl:value-of select="."/>
  </attribute>
</xsl:template>
<!-- values -->
<re><xsl:template match="xhtml:tbody/xhtml:tr">
    <records>
  <xsl:apply-templates mode="values" />
  </records>
</xsl:template>
<rpre><xsl:template match="xhtml:td" mode="values">
 <record>
    <rsl:value-of select="."/>
  </record>
</xsl:template>
```

```
</xsl:stylesheet>
```

The result could then look like this:

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="UTF-8"?>
<myXmlFormat
  xmlns:xhtml="http://www.w3.org/1999/xhtml">
  <attributes>
    <attribute>Country</attribute>
    <attribute>City</attribute>
    <attribute>Office Code</attribute>
    <attribute>Firstname</attribute>
    <attribute>Lastname</attribute>
    <attribute>Employee Nr</attribute>
    <attribute>Jobtitle</attribute>
    <attribute>Email</attribute>
    <attribute>Amount</attribute>
  </attributes>
  <records>
    <record>USA</record>
    <record>San Francisco</record>
    <record>1</record>
    <record>Leslie</record>
    <record>Jennings</record>
    <record>1165</record>
    <record>Sales Rep</record>
    <record>ljennings@classicmodelcars.com</record>
    <record>1.081.530,54</record>
  </records>
  <records>
    <record>USA</record>
    <record>NYC</record>
    <record>3</record>
    <record>George</record>
```

6.16. XML Templates with XSLT

```
<record>Vanauf</record>
<record>1323</record>
<record>Sales Rep</record>
<record>gvanauf@classicmodelcars.com</record>
<record>669.377,05</record>
</records>
</myXmlFormat>
```

Pivot Mode of the Dynamic List

In the previous chapter (Dynamic Lists) we explored the various possibilities offered by the Dynamic List. In the following chapter we want to present a whole new mode of the Dynamic List offering further possibilities for ad-hoc analysis of data, new visualizations and charting: the Pivot mode of the Dynamic List.

To switch to Pivot mode choose the **Pivot** option from the toolbar and acknowledge the subsequent check. This will trigger a reload of the Dynamic List now in Pivot mode. The effect is that the aspects **list configuration** and **preview** have been replaced by **Dimensions/Measures** and **Pivot/Preview**. The aspects **parameters**, **computed columns** and **pre filter** remain visible and are identical to before.

eportServer		iduler Administration	executed re	oxrh	-	-	-	_	_	-	Weberne, red	. sost	koposit
Excel-Expet v											E deplay report documents	ton	1 are
Computed columns	Dmenion + • • • • • • • • • • •												
T preliter & Dimensions Massures Pinct Preview												Mode:	a
6 PAGETNAWAW	PL_PRODUCTLINE PRO_PRODUCTIONE PRO_PRODUCTIONE Contorner PA9	Rows *	DUS,COUNT	RY Q, Ø									
	OUS_COUNTRY OUS_CONY										India: 17.00 / 8 x 23 / 0.016		т.
	Measures						FINLING	Tracka and Bases				-	
	 OR_CUSTCOMEND_MEMORY OR_CUSTCOMEND_MEMORY 	Australia	53	Metorcycles	25	2	irona 1	Trucks and bases	winage cars	\sim			
		Austria	25			-		1	10	ŭ			
		Delplam	4		1	11			94	Ň			
		Conste	14	1	10	54		15	15	VV			
		Denmark	34		2	14	4	2	7	w			
		Finland	38	13	12	9	2	11	τ	~			
		France	98	68	32	21	7	30	50	\sim			
		Gernary	36	3		2	2	2	9	h			
		Hong Kong		1	12				3	~			
		Instand	6	2	4		2		1	~~-			
		Baly	29	3	35	6	3		42	w./			
		Jepan	8	9	16	5	2	3	9	\sim			
		New Zealand	42	25	14	- 11	- 4	4	45	\sim			
		Norway	35	14	- 11		2	9	14	\sim			
		Philippines	18	7	5				1	\sim			
		Singapore	32	1		- 4	5	23	14	5			
		Spain	120	19	30	39	14	45	74	\sim			
		Sweden	17	3	- 3	10	1	11	12	~			

7.1 Introduction

The Pivot mode can be regarded as an extensive form of the aggregation function and is best explained with an example. For this we consider a sample data set consisting of an opinion poll on the quality of certain products where persons were asked to rate a given product on a scale from 1 to 5. Table 7.1 gives the collected data, i.e., the data that we assume is underlying the Dynamic List.

When using the standard aggregation functionality of the Dynamic List (see Section 6.8) you could aggregate the given data, for example, by choosing the product category and product as grouping attributes and take the average over the rating. This would give you the following result:

Product Category	Product	Rating
Electronics	TV	3,71
	fridge	3,8
Groceries	cereals	3,75
	chocolates	3,77

Product Category	Product	Sex	Age	Rating
Electronics	ΤV	m	40+	5
Electronics	ΤV	m	40+	3
Electronics	ΤV	f	40+	4
Electronics	ΤV	m	20-40	5
Electronics	ΤV	m	20-40	4
Electronics	ΤV	f	20-40	3
Electronics	ΤV	m	20-40	2
Electronics	fridge	m	20-40	2
Electronics	fridge	m	20-40	5
Electronics	fridge	m	20-40	5
Electronics	fridge	f	20-40	4
Electronics	fridge	m	20-40	3
Groceries	cereals	m	20-40	5
Groceries	cereals	m	20-40	3
Groceries	cereals	m	40+	4
Groceries	cereals	f	20-40	3
Groceries	chocolates	f	20-40	5
Groceries	chocolates	f	20-40	3
Groceries	chocolates	f	20-40	5
Groceries	chocolates	m	20-40	4
Groceries	chocolates	m	20-40	5
Groceries	chocolates	f	20-40	2
Groceries	chocolates	m	40+	3
Groceries	chocolates	m	40+	4
Groceries	chocolates	f	40+	3

Table 7.1: Every row contains the rating of a person and the row additionally contains the person's sex and an age classification.

In contrast to this simple form of aggregation, the Pivot mode offers many additional features to, for example, quickly change the level of aggregation, display the result as a cross tab or diagram, add totals, drill through to the underlying data rows and much more. As an example you could have the same example displayed as a cross tab that additionally group the data by the sex of the interviewed person:

		male	female
Electronics	Т٧	3,8	3,5
	fridge	3,75	4
Groceries	cereals	4	3
	chocolates	4	3,6

Besides displaying aggregation results in the form of cross tabs the Pivot mode also allows to easily change the level of aggregation, for example, to change the level the level of product category using a single mouse click.

	male	female
Electronics	3,8	3,7
Groceries	4	3,5

7.2 Working in Pivot Mode

Working with the Pivot mode is usually done in two steps. After changing from the dynamic list to the Pivot mode you first need to define the attributes you want to work with in the **dimensions/measures** aspect and define whether those attributes are grouping attributes (dimensions) or aggregation attributes (measures). For this, use from the dynamic list known column selection dialog. The selected columns / attributes are then displayed in a list.

ReportServer	Dashboard TeamSpace	Scheduler Administratio	n executed reports					Weicerea, root, root	kopout Q
T_AGG_ORDER - Basis (1643	3 6)								×
② Excel-Expet ♥ ▲ Send to							E display re	port documentation	
computed columns	Select dimensional measure	Remove column)	I edit format						
Conternational Measures	Column	Detault Alias	Alas	Description	Options	Appregate	Dimension	Type	
D PivotProview	PL_PRODUCTLINE						Product	WARCHAR	_
	PRO_PRODUCTNAME			Produkaname			Product	WARCHAR	
	CUS_COUNTRY			Land			Customer	WARCHAR	
	CUS_CITY			Shuck			Customer	WARCHAR	
	OR_CUSTOMERNUMBER			Kundennummer	1	Count		INTEGER	
"T_AGG_G N									

Name. By default, the attribute's are associated with their technical name, or if available, a preset name. To rename an attribute, click on the cell **column name** and assign a new name. This is identical to changing names in the normal mode of the Dynamic List.

Aggregation/Measures. To define an attribute as an aggregation measure (in the above example this would be the attribute *rating*) assign an aggregation function for the attribute. You can choose from the same aggregation functions as in the normal mode of the dynamic list.

Grouping/Dimensions. All attributes that are not assigned an aggregation function are regarded as a grouping characteristics. Sometimes grouping characteristics are aligned along a common dimension. In the above example this is the case for *Product Category* and *Product* which both classify products from a coarser scale (category) to a more detailed scale (product). Other examples are geographic features (e.g., continent, country, city) or temporal characteristics (year, month, day). To group attributes along one dimension, assign a common dimension name in cell **dimension**. For example, assign the dimension name *Product* for the features Product Category and Product. In such a case, the order of the attributes is important and they should be sorted from coarse to detailed. In the given example the product category should thus be before the product.

Once you have your dimensions and measures configured, you can switch to the aspect **Pivot/preview** where all further configuration takes place. Note that the aspects **computed columns** and **pre filter** are identical to the dynamic list. Pre filters restrict the underlying set of data and computed columns can serve as additional attributes (both as measures or dimensions).

In the next chapter The Analysis View (Chapter 8) we present the Pivot/Preview aspect. The analysis view is a shared component by the Pivot mode of the dynamic list and OLAP reports (see chapter 4) and thus discussed jointly in Chapter 8.

Tip. After performing any change in an aspect other than the Pivot/Preview aspect (i.e., parameters, computed columns, pre filter, or dimensions/measures), the analysis view (see Chapter 8) must be reloaded. To do so, use the reload icon (the green rotating arrow) from the toolbar in the analysis view.

Chapter 8

The Analysis View

The Report Server Analysis view¹ is both used by the pivot mode of the Dynamic list (see section 7) as well as by OLAP reports. The handling is almost identical in both cases. The main difference is that in OLAP reports no further settings can be made outside of the analysis view. In contrast, the Pivot mode of the dynamic list, allows you to define dimensions and measures as well as to work with pre filters, computed fields and possibly parameters.

_AGG_ORDER - Basis (10	4336)												
Escel-Export v 🕹 Send	to										E display report document	ration	
econquited columns	Dimensions		a a 🛛			.8.	ż.	9				Mode	
▼ profiler & Dimensions Measures ProtPreview	Ψ 📴 Product • (Al)	Image: The state of t											1
do nacemenew	PL_PRODUCTURE PRO_PRODUCTNAME Contorner	Rown *	DUS,COUNT	RY Q, Ø									-
	VII OUS COUNTRY	Film *											~
	Out,onv										India: 12103 / 01123 / 01216		
	Measures						FINLING						Σ
	🔻 😂 Massures	CUS_COUNTRY						Tracks and Bases					
	OR_CUSTOMERNUMBER	Australia	53	25	25	2	- 1	20	50	S			
		Austria Delplam	25	5	6	4	3	5	10				
		Consta	14	1		11		10		w			
		Destade			2		4	2	7				
		Finland	38	12	12		2	11	7	~			
		France	98	68	32	21	7	30	50	\sim			
		Gernary	36	3		2	2	2	9	h			
		Hong Kong		1	12				3	~			
		Instand	6	2	4		2	1	1	~~-			
		Raty	29	3	35	6	3	3	42	\sim			
		Japan	8	1	16	5	2	3	9				
		New Zealand	42	25	14	- 11	- 4	4	45	\sim			
	Norway	35	14	- 11		2	9	14					
		Philippines	18	7	5				1	~			
		Singapore	32	1		4		20	14				
		Spain Swoden	120	19	30	39 10	14	45	74	~			

8.1 Basics

The analysis view is comprised of four areas. At the top is the toolbar. It provides access to several options and settings. On the left you can find the dimensions and measures. On the very right you can switch between data and diagram mode. The center contains, as usual, the main view in which the data is displayed.

To understand the basic operations, it is easiest to think in the form of a (multidimensional) cross-tab. The following table is a view of the product survey data from Chapter 7 (Table 7.1).

		male	e	female			
		20 - 40	40+	20 - 40	40+		
Electronics	ТV	3,7	4	3	4		
	fridge	3,75		4			
Groceries	cereals	4	4	3			
	chocolate	4,5	3,5	3,75	3		

Grouping characteristics are arranged both on columns and rows. The intersection of grouping characteristics contains the aggregated data. The gray cell thus represents the average rating of

¹The analysis view is based on the open source OSBI project SAIKU https://github.com/OSBI/saiku and we would like to take the opportunity to congratulate the SAIKU team for a fantastic product.

8. The Analysis View

the TV by the male respondents over 40. Schematically, we can represent such a cross-tab so as follows:

	column properties
row characteristics	aggregations

The basic operation now corresponds to the structure of such a cross-tab. The center view displays the areas **columns** and **rows** (we will discuss the filter area shortly). Here you can distribute the dimensions (grouping characteristics); in the example above that would be the product category and sex. To add a dimension to the rows (or columns) simply drag the dimension from the left panel with the mouse onto the column or onto the row area. If there is at least a single dimension on rows and columns, ReportServer will construct the corresponding cross-tab (depending on the data and dimensions, this can take a few moments).

If we place for example the dimension *product category* on rows and *sex* on columns ReportServer will create the following cross-tab.

	male	female
Electronics	3,8	3,7
Groceries	4	3,5

ReportServer will select the first measure as the aggregation function if none has been explicitly selected. To make this explicit, pull the desired measure (*average rating* in the example) also to the columns or rows. We will get the following result.

	male	female
	rating	rating
Electronics	3,8	3,7
Groceries	4	3,5

8.2 Dimensions

The existing dimensions appear as folders within the left panel. Note that one dimension can include one or more grouping characteristics. For example, the time dimension could be comprised of the grouping characteristics *year*, *month* and *day*. To see the available characteristics simply open the folder.

The (All) dimension

In addition to the existing grouping characteristics you see at each dimension a characteristic called **(AII)**. This can be used as any other characteristic by dragging it onto rows or columns. The **(AII)** feature basically describes the entire dimension and thus provides an extra level of aggregation. In the above example, product category and product would form a common dimension. The product dimension would be left thus shown as follows:

Product

	(All)	
<u> </u>	Product	category
	Product	

If, now, the *(All)* feature is put onto rows and the measure *rating* onto columns then the following table results

	rating
All Products	3,76

The (All) feature allows to drill down into the dimension, that is, to add additional aggregation levels. To display sub-levels of the dimension click with the left mouse button on the name "All Products" within the crosstab and then select **view children** from the context menu. The cross-tab is then transformed into:

	rating
all products	3,76
Electronics	3,75
Groceries	3,77

Now you can of course further drill down into the dimension, or go back up.

8.3 The Toolbar

In the following we would like to present the options available from the toolbar. From left to right you will find

Run query	Executes the query that is currently configured. In general queries are executed as soon as a change has been made. In case you opted for manual execution (see next tool) then this allows you to run the query.
Automatic execution	By default, when a change has been made, the display re- freshes automatically. For larger data sets, this can lead to an excessive load on the server and correspondingly to long response times. This button allows to disable/enable the automatic execution of queries (by default it is enabled).

8. The Analysis View

Toggle fields	Hides the fields columns/rows/filter.
Toggle sidebar	Hides the left sidebar (dimensions and measures).
Hide parents	Hides rows/columns from the resulting cross-tab that do not have a value for the current level of aggregation.
Non-empty	Hides empty cells in a result.
Drill through on cell	Allows the display of the underlying records that have led to an aggregation result. See also Section 8.6.
Export drill	Exports the result of a drill operation. See also Section 8.6.
Reload	Reloads the analysis view. This is especially important when working in pivot mode of the dynamic list to changes in other aspects (e.g., add measures and dimensions) involved in the analysis view.

8.4 Filtering und sorting



If you have placed a feature on rows or columns, you can set additional filters. For this, click on the magnifying glass to open the filter dialog. The filter dialog is similar to the filter dialogue of the Dynamic List. If you work in the Pivot mode of a Dynamic List we recommend to use pre filters with large data sets rather than to use filters directly from the analysis view.

If you want to filter dimensions, that should not appear in the result set you can drag these to the filter area.

Sorting

You can sort the result by a dimension. For this click on the arrows (next to the magnifying glass) for the corresponding dimension in the rows or columns area.

8.5 The chart mode



Instead of displaying the data as a cross-tab, you can display the data using charts. For this switch to chart mode on the right hand side of the screen. Here you find many different chart types available. Of course, you can export a report in the analysis mode also as a chart, or integrate such a chart into one of your dashboards. The drill operation allows you to display the underlying data rows that lead to an aggregation result. To do this, select the drills option from the toolbar and then click on an aggregation result (a cell in the center of the cross-tab). In the following dialog you can adjust the output by selecting the dimensions and measures that should be contained in the result set. You can also limit the maximum number of results. Note that large result sets can have a significant impact on system performance and, therefore,

T realitar	Bichodde Dimensions Podact Podact Podact Podact	Deterres *			b (4)	play report docum	nentation	
▼ prefilter & Dirrensions Manaures	♥ 📴 Product ● (M)		E 🗄 E 🛛 + 🛃 8 👂					
Dimensions Massures	 (Al) 	Columna *					Mode:	
PincePreview			Drill-Through ×					
	PROJPRODUCTNAME	Ravo 🔻 🚺	Now Limit: (7 = none) 200					
	V 😂 Customer		CAUTION: The number of raws can have a significant impact on the				-	
	 M0 CUS COUNTRY 	Pilter *	performance of the following action.					
	 OUB_CITY 		O Dimensions		Information: 17:04-7			
	Measures		Poduct Contorner		Ships	Trai		Σ
		OUS COUNTRY OF	F La Cultorer	en on	OUSTOMERNUMBER			
	Austr	Australia	O Meanures	25				
		Austria	* 😂 Maaara	6	4			
		Delplum	COR_CUETOMERNUMBER	1	11			
		Conada		10	14			
		Donmark		2	14			
		Finland		12	9			
		France		32	21			
		Germany			2			
		Hong Keng		12				
		Ireland		4				
		Raly		35	6			
		Japan		16	5			
		Nov Zoaland		14				
		Norway		11				
		Philippines		5				
		Singapore	Dk Carcel		4			
		Spain .		30	39			

should be exported (drill export button from the toolbar) rather than displayed directly.

Excel-Export 🗸 Send to	• \ ▼	Schedule					display report documentation	🖿 sav
computed columns	Dimens	ions				* 1 1	Mode	•:
S Dimensions/Measures		PL_PRODUCTLINE	PRO_PRODUCTNAME	CUS_COUNTRY	CUS_CITY	OR_CUSTOMERNUMBER		
Pivot/Preview	-	Classic Cars	1948 Porsche Type 356 Roadster	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		11
	-	Classic Cars	1948 Porsche Type 356 Roadster	Denmark	Århus	227		11
		Classic Cars	1949 Jaguar XK 120	Denmark	Århus	227		11
		Classic Cars	1952 Citroen-15CV	Denmark	Århus	227		11
		Classic Cars	1957 Corvette Convertible	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		11
	Meas	Classic Cars	1957 Ford Thunderbird	Denmark	Århus	227		11
	-	Classic Cars	1958 Chevy Corvette Limited Edition	Denmark	Århus	227		11
		Classic Cars	1961 Chevrolet Impala	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		11
		Classic Cars	1965 Aston Martin DB5	Denmark	Århus	227		11
		Classic Cars	1966 Shelby Cobra 427 S/C	Denmark	Århus	227		11
		Classic Cars	1968 Dodge Charger	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		11
		Classic Cars	1968 Ford Mustang	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		11
		Classic Cars	1969 Chevrolet Camaro Z28	Denmark	Århus	227		11
		Classic Cars	1969 Corvair Monza	Denmark	Århus	227		11
		Classic Cars	1969 Dodge Super Bee	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		11
		Classic Cars	1969 Ford Falcon	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		
		Classic Cars	1969 Ford Falcon	Denmark	Århus	227		
		Classic Cars	1970 Chevy Chevelle SS 454	Denmark	Århus	227		
		Classic Cars	1970 Dodge Coronet	Denmark	Århus	227		
		Classic Cars	1970 Plymouth Hemi Cuda	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		
		Classic Cars	1970 Triumph Spitfire	Denmark	Århus	227		
		Classic Cars	1971 Alpine Renault 1600s	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		
		Classic Cars	1972 Alfa Romeo GTA	Denmark	Kobenhavn	145		
					17	0	 10	

Chapter 9

Scheduling

ReportServer provides you with the option to schedule reports such that they are executed at a given date or recurring events. For this you can choose any of the familiar export formats. As target you can either specify the email account of a user registered in ReportServer or let the result be stored directly in a TeamSpace.

To schedule a report, first open the report and click on the button **schedule** in the main toolbar. The opening dialog first asks you to specify a target format and the recipients (selection via double click). If the report is sent via email all the recipients will get a copy. In case the executed report is stored in a TeamSpace, the recipients will be notified of that. The checkbox **advanced options** uncovers further configuration options on the following pages.



On the next page you are asked to select the target of your schedule entry. This can be a TeamSpace, email recipient, or both. In case the executed report is to be sent as an email attachment, you need to provide a subject and a message for the email. If the report is to be stored in a TeamSpace, please provide the target TeamSpace and a target folder (if no folder is selected, it will be placed directly under the root folder). Under "name" you should provide a file name for the to be created object. Via the \${}-expression language (see Appendix B on page 59) you can provide a dynamic name that contains, for example, a timestamp of the execution ("\${now} My Report").

Conditional Scheduling

If you selected **display advanced options** on the first page, an extra page will be displayed that allows to configure conditions. Whenever the report is scheduled ReportServer will first go through all specified conditions and will execute the report only if all of them pass. In case one of the conditions is not met you can specify if and when ReportServer should try again to execute the report.

Conditions are defined based on parameters specified by an administrator. To add a condition click the **add** button which will display allows you to select a base parameter from a set of available

parameters. In a second step you need to provide a condition based on this parameter. For this you use the syntax of \${}-expressions to write truth values (but without writing the surrounding \${}). To, for example, test if the value "someValue" is bigger than 5 write:

someValue > 5

Alternatively, you can choose one or more conditions from a set of predefined conditions previously defined by an administrator.

Via the selection of "if conditions do not hold" you can specify how ReportServer will handle this case. You can choose between skipping this execution or retrying at a later time. In the first case ReportServer will simply continue with the specified schedule. In case you chose **retry** you can specify a waiting period after which ReportServer will try again.

The last page in the configuration allows you to configure the schedule specifying when and how often ReportServer will execute the report. The configuration is analogous to the configuration of "recurring appointments" in calendar applications.

Scheduler Module



The scheduler module provides an overview of reports that you scheduled as well as reports that were scheduled for you (i.e., where you have been selected as the recipient). On the left you are given a list of schedule entries which can be filtered using the tools in the above toolbar. If you select an entry, ReportServer will display details in the right half of the window. Besides general information you are given a history of past scheduling events as well as a list of the next five scheduling times.

If you double click on an event, a dialog opens that displays further information for this particular event. In case an error occurred, you will find details here.

Via the detail window's toolbar you can furthermore request an immediate execution of the report as well as editing the configuration. Note that, if you change the configuration, then the old entry will be archived and a new entry is created. This is important if, for example, you'll directly specify the number of executions.

The button **load details** completes the list of past executions and via **delete** you can stop an entry and move it to the archive.



Figure 9.1: Detailed information for a failed scheduler execution.

Appendix A

Report documentation

ReportServer automatically generates a documentation for all existing variants. Besides general information such as the name and ID of the report variant, the documentation contains detailed information about the configuration of the report.

Below we see an example of a report documentation.

The documentation contains besides general information, such as name and author, a detailed description of the chosen configuration. In the example you see the documentation of a graphical report (to be precise, a Jasper report). Here the configuration consists only of the choice of parameters. Note that the displayed values correspond to the values belonging to the displayed values.

Naturally, for dynamic lists the documentation is much more extensive. It displays the entire configuration starting (if applicable) with the parameters. Next, if the report contains any computed attributes these are given including the rules of computation. If a prefilter is configured it is given as a Nassi-Shneidermann diagram where filter expression are given in the following form:

= Inclusion
<> Exclusion
[] Inclusion Interval
][Exclusion Interval

Further, all selected columns are displayed listing all chosen options for each column (aggregation, sorting, filters, format, etc.). Filter expressions are given in the same format as in the prefilter.

Additional information includes the list of TeamSpaces and of scheduling jobs containing the given report.

A list of all variants is also included in the documentation of the basic report.

A. Report documentation

					09.10.201
Employees i	n USA				
				Created Last changed: Creator: Id*:	25.01.201 30.09.201 null nu 4
General					
UUID: Base report: Remove duplicate rows:		74d2af83-e016-483a-9 T_AGG_EMPLOYEE - Ba			
Subtotals :		no no			
	Hidden: no		Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
Subtotals : Columns EMP_FIRSTNAME	Hidden: no Hidden: no	no	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
Subtotals : Columns EMP_FIRSTNAME Vorname EMP_LASTNAME		no Order: -			
Subtotals : Columns EMP_FIRSTNAME Vorname EMP_LASTNAME Nachname EMP_EMPLOYEENUMBER	Hidden: no	no Order: - Order: descending	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
Subtotals : COlumns EMP_FIRSTNAME Vorname EMP_LASTNAME Nachname EMP_EMPLOYEENUMBER Mitarbeiternummer EMP_JOBTITLE	Hidden: no Hidden: no	no Order: - Order: descending Order: -	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	
Subtotals : COlumns EMP_FIRSTNAME Vorname EMP_LASTNAME Nachname EMP_EMPLOYEENUMBER Mitarbeiternummer EMP_JOBTITLE Position EMP_OFFICECODE	Hidden: no Hidden: no Hidden: no	no Order: - Order: - Order: -	Empty cells: -	Aggregation: -	

Appendix B

Expression language

In many cases ReportServer allows to insert formulas which are interpreted at runtime instead of static values. Such expressions are always initiated by a dollar sign and an opening curly bracket and closed with a closing curly bracket. The actual expression is given within the curly brackets: formula/2 $$$ expression}$. ReportServer uses the unified expression language (UE) standardized in JSR-245 (https://www.jcp.org/en/jsr/detail?id=245 and http://www.oracle.com/technetwork/java/unifiedel-139263.html).

An expression can be a simple calculation or string function such as $\{3 + 5\}$ which would compute the number 8. Depending on the context different objects/replacements (such as the today object in filters; see Section 6.9 on page 31) are available.

Destruction of a state of the second			
Besides the basic arithmetic	operators you can	use the following	mathematical functions:

math:random()	Returns a random number between 0 and 1.
math:sin(Double)	Computes the sine function.
math:cos(Double)	Computes the cosine function.
math:tan(Double)	Computes the tangent function.
math:abs(Double)	Returns the absolute value.
math:ceil(Double)	Returns the smallest double value that is greater or equal to the
	argument and which is equal to a mathematical integer.
math:floor(Double)	Returns the largest double value that is less or equal to the argu-
	ment and which is equal to a mathematical integer.
math:round(Double)	Returns the rounded number (as an integer).
math:max(Double, Double)	Returns the greater of the two arguments.
math:min(Double, Double)	Returns the smaller of the two arguments.
math:pow(Double, Double)	Returns the first value raised to the power of the second.
math:log(Double)	Computes the natural logarithm.
math:exp(Double)	Computes the value e raised to the power of the argument.
math:sqrt(Double)	Computes the square root of the argument.
math:signum(Double)	Computes the signum function.

To work with strings the following functions can be used in addition to the methods provided by the java string object:

B. Expression language

sutils:left(String, int)	Returns the first n characters of the string.
sutils:right(String, int)	Returns the last n characters of the string.

The ternary operator can be used to define conditional expressions:

Condition ? Expression if condition evaluates to true : Expression if condition evaluates \checkmark to false.

Thus the expression f(0<0.5 ? true : false returns boolean value which is TRUE if the random number is less than 0.5 and FALSE otherwise. Thus this expression returns TRUE with probability 50%.

Working with objects

Depending on the context various objects can be accessed and methods can be called on these objects. In filters, for example, the object today can be used to specify dates. To call a method on an object write $\{object.methodname()\}$. The today object returns the current date. To return the first of the current month you can use the method firstDay and write: $\{today.firstDay()\}$. The today object provides the following functions

firstDay	Sets the calendar object to midnight at the first day of the current month
lastDay	Sets the object to the last second of the last day of the current month
addDays	Adds the number of days given as argument to the current date (the argument
	can be negative to subtract days)
addMonths	Adds the specified number of months to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
addYears	Adds the specified number of years to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
setDay	Sets the calendar to a specific day
setMonth	Sets the calendar to a specific month
setYear	Sets the calendar to a specific year
clearTime	Clears the time field, that is, the time is set to midnight
addHours	Adds the specified number of hours to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
addMinutes	Adds the specified number of minutes to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
addSeconds	Adds the specified number of seconds to the current date (the argument can be
	negative to subtract days)
setHours	Sets the hour field
setMinutes	Sets the minutes field
setSeconds	Sets the seconds field
format	This function formats the date according to a specified mask. This may be
	necessary if the underlying datatype is not a date type but a text type (see
	Appendix C on page 61 for further information).

Appendix C

Date Format

Letter	Date or Time Component	Presentation	Examples
G	Era designator	Text	AD
У	Year	Year	1996; 96
Y	Week year	Year	2009; 09
М	Month in year	Month	July; Jul; 07
W	Week in year	Number	27
W	Week in month	Number	2
D	Day in year	Number	189
d	Day in month	Number	10
F	Day of week in month	Number	2
E	Day name in week	Text	Tuesday; Tue
u	Day number of week $(1 = Monday,$	Number	1
	, 7 = Sunday)		
а	Am/pm marker	Text	PM
Н	Hour in day (0-23)	Number	0
k	Hour in day (1-24)	Number	24
K	Hour in am/pm (0-11)	Number	0
h	Hour in am/pm (1-12)	Number	12
m	Minute in hour	Number	30
S	Second in minute	Number	55
S	Millisecond	Number	978
Z	Time zone	General time zone	PST; GMT-08:00
Z	Time zone	RFC 822 time zone	-0800
Х	Time zone	ISO 8601 time zone	-08; -0800; -08:00

from http://docs.oracle.com/javase/8/docs/api/java/text/SimpleDateFormat.html.